
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 13 March 2018

Executive
Wednesday 21 March 2018, 2.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 21 February 2018 of Executive  (Pages 3 - 

10)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 
2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Members' Announcements  

Page 1



6. Corporate Business Plan 2018/19  (Pages 11 - 62)

7. Setting Equality objectives 2018/19  (Pages 63 - 80)

8. Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund  (Pages 81 - 88)

9. Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration  (Pages 89 - 98)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 18 April 2018, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 21 February 2018 at 10.00 am

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson

Staff Present

B Carlin, A FitzGerald, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, I Hinde, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, 
G Roach, A Seekings, E Thompson, L Tomlinson, G Wilson and P Wood

Also Present

Councillor B Miskelly

346. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 24 January 2018 of Executive 

The minutes of the meeting were signed as a correct record.

347. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

348. Questions 

None received.

349. Members' Announcements 

None received.

350. Tackling Poverty Strategy 

The subject of the decision

The Co-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee submitted a report for 
the Executive members to consider and approve recommendations made by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group on a review of the Tackling 
Poverty Strategy. Councillor B Miskelly presented the report on behalf of the 
Co-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Executive felt strongly there was an urgent need for Central Government to 
recognise the problems experienced with poverty, and in particular the specific 
issues faced in rural areas such as Allerdale. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Councillor M Fryer asked that the recommended priorities detailed in paragraph 
8.4 of the report be given parity and moved an amendment to recommendation 
4, of the report to remove the reference of prioritisation.
This was seconded by Councillor B Cannon. 

A vote was taken on the amended motion: 8 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions.
The amended motion was unanimously agreed.

Members thanked Councillor B Miskelly and the members of the Task and 
Finish Group for the work undertaken and a very comprehensive report.  

Alternative options considered

To amend, or not to approve, the recommendations proposed by the Overview 
and Scrutiny task and Finish Group.

The reason for the decision

The Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group had carried out a review of 
the Tackling Poverty Strategy and members were asked to approve a new draft 
Strategy with supporting recommendations.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. The revised Tackling Poverty Strategy November 2017 be adopted

2. The Council gives priority to support and advice services for Allerdale 
residents

3. Future Council reports include greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the body of the report

4. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s proposed significant areas for future 
Council support and investment be adopted.

351. Q3 Performance Report 2017/18 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report to advise Members on the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 
three 2017/18, covering the period from 1 October to 31 December 2017, as 
measured by projects/activities and KPIs set out in the Corporate Business Plan 
2017/18.

Members considered and noted the progress made against each of the key 
projects and activities set out in the Corporate Business Plan 2017/18. 

Page 4



The report contained 71 projects/activities and 52 key performance indicators. 
Of the projects/activities 7 were marked as complete, 54 were on target and 10 
had concerns over their deadlines or outputs being achieved. 
Of the listed KPIs, 28 were on target, 10 had concerns on their target being 
achieved, 9 had significant concerns and 5 were not targeted.

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The recommendation was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

None

The reason for the decision

To advise members of progress on the Corporate Business Plan 
priorities/activities and KPIs at the end of quarter three 2017/18.

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

352. Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2017 

The subject of the decision:

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to inform 
Members of the Council’s financial performance against budget for the period 
April to December 2017 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2018.

Members noted the headline messages at the end of quarter 3 2017/18, being:
Revenue Budget

(i) Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects 
funded from earmarked reserves, was forecast to exceed 
budget by £196k 

(ii) There was an anticipated increase in income from Taxation & 
Government Grants of £273k

(iii) This projected outturn position would result in a contribution to 
the Councils General Fund of £77k
Earmarked Reserves Budget

(iv) Expenditure from the earmarked reserves was forecast to 
underspend by £463k

(v) Of this underspend £453k would be reprofiled between financial 
years, leaving a net underspend of £10k
Capital Budget

Page 5



(vi) Expenditure from the capital budget was forecast to underspend 
by £1,861k

(vii) Of this underspend £1,814k would be reprofiled between 
financial years leaving a net underspend of £47k
Other

(viii) Performance in relation to the payment of creditor invoices 
continued to improve with the payment of non-Allerdale 
suppliers achieving the 98% target for quarter 3

(ix) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the third 
quarter of 2017/18

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The recommendation was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered:

None

The reason for the decision:

To inform Members of the Council’s financial performance against budget for 
the period April to December 2017 along with the forecast position to 31 March 
2018.

The decision:

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

353. Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report for members to approve a 
Capital Investment Strategy for 2018/19 to 2019/20. A strategy which had been 
developed to define at the highest level how the capital programme was to be 
determined, that identified the issues and options that influenced capital 
spending and that set out how the resources and capital programme would be 
managed.

Councillor A Smith moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The recommendation was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to approve the Strategy.

Page 6



The reason for the decision

To agree a document setting out the Councils ambitions and priorities over the 
medium to longer term and that provided a framework for the review and 
management of existing assets. A document which also indicated the 
opportunities for partnership working and had a direct relationship with the 
Treasury Management Strategy and the opportunities and limitations on activity 
through the Treasury Management prudential indicators. 

The decision

Recommended: 

That Council be requested to agree that the Capital Investment Strategy 
2018/19 to 2019/20 be approved and following best practice it be renewed on 
an annual basis to ensure a strong link to the Councils priorities.

354. Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19 

The subject of the decision: 

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to present to 
Members the draft revenue and capital budget and the formal advice of the 
chief financial officer on the robustness of the estimates included in the budget 
and the adequacy of the reserves which supported the Council’s budgetary 
plans.

Consultations informing the 2018/19 budget process comprised of a survey of 
residents undertaken during July and August 2016 and a budget consultation 
focusing on specific budget issues, carried out during December 2017 and 
January 2018.

Councillor B Cannon advised members of some amendments to the report, 
namely Appendices C and D. 
Under Appendix C, to move £50k recurring growth between the Economic 
Growth Portfolio to the Localities and Environmental Quality Portfolio, and the 
relating recurring growth bids detailed on page 205 of Appendix D.

Members thanked the chief finance officer, the Financial Services Team and 
senior managers for their contribution to the development of the draft budget 
proposals.

Councillor B Cannon moved the amendments to the report and the 
recommendations contained within the report. This was seconded by Councillor 
A Smith. The recommendations including amendments to the report were 
unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered:

None

Page 7



The reason for the decision:

The Council’s statutory requirement to approve a balanced budget.

The decision:

Recommended:

That Council be requested to agree that:

1. The total planned revenue expenditure be £15,670,916 including parish 
precepts of £2,024,054

2. £14,604,435 be approved as the Council’s net Budget requirement for 
2018-19

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D Properties, with 
proportionate increases being applied to properties in other council tax 
bands, be approved

4. No changes be made to the Council’s Council Tax Reduction discount 
scheme and that the current scheme remained in place for 2018-19

5. The amount of council tax support funding to be paid to Town and Parish 
Council be set at £20,666 (Appendix A)

6. The revenue estimates as approved be used in the calculation of the 
basic amount of tax under Section 31 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992

7. The minimum level of non-earmarked general fund balances be set at 
£2.7m and that no maximum level be set

8. That the capital budget of £18,972,755 (comprising £14,592,755 in 2018-
19, £2,340,000 in 2019-20 and £2,040,000 in 2020-21) be approved

9. That the proposed capital budget for 2018-19 be financed as follows:
 grants and contributions …..£9,043,255 
 borrowing………………...….£5,530,000
 revenue …………………………..£3,500
 earmarked reserves ………….. £16,000

355. Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares 

The subject of the decision

The Licensing and Compliance Officer submitted a report which sought 
members to consider and approve the recommendations made by the Licensing 
Committee held on 28 November 2017 to amend the table of fares charged by a 
hackney carriage.

Councillor J Ellis moved the report and recommendations.

Councillor M Fryer moved an amendment to recommendation 4 in the report, 
requesting that the commencement time of Tariff 2 remained at 12am.

Page 8



Councillor M Fryer stated that the commencement of Tariff 2 had been 12am for 
a number of year without issue and raised that as the general trend for people 
going out was now later in the evening, he had concerns about raising the 
charges to earlier in the evening. Councillor Fryer also highlighted the change 
would conflict with Tariff 3 on Christmas Eve and New Years Eve.  
Councillor M Heaslip agreed that 12am was a reasonable time before bringing 
in a premium charge and seconded the amendment.

A vote was taken on the amended motion: 8 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions. 
The amended motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

To retain the table of fares as existing, to approve the recommendations made 
by the Licensing Committee held on 28 November 2017 or to amend the table 
of fares in accordance with economic considerations.  

The reason for the decision

To consider, in light of current economic circumstances, whether the table of 
fares charged by a hackney carriage be changed and if so, to what level.

The decision

Resolved:

That:
1. The fare be increased from £2.90 to £3.20 for the following:

a) if the distance does not exceed 1.6 kilometres (1 mile) for the whole 
distance

b) if the distance exceeds 1.6 kilometres (1 mile) for the first kilometre (1 
mile)

2. The waiting time be increased to 45p for each period of three minutes or 
uncompleted part thereof; 

3. The tariff be increased for each article of luggage conveyed outside the 
passenger compartment or the carriage for the whole distance to 20p; 
and

4. Tariff 2 to commence at 12am.

356. Appointment of Representative to Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd. 

The subject of the decision:

The Democratic and Support Services Officer submitted a report which sought 
the Executive to appoint a Member to serve as the Council’s representative on 
the Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) 

Page 9



Limited and Energy Coast West Cumbria (Workspace) Limited outside bodies 
following the resignation of Councillor M Fryer.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation contained within the report. This 
was seconded by Councillor M Heaslip. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered:

Not to appoint a representative on to the outside bodies.

The reason for the decision:

To appoint a Member to serve as the Council’s representative following the 
resignation of Councillor M Fryer.

The decision:

Resolved:

That Councillor A Smith be appointed to serve on the Energy Coast West 
Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) Limited and Energy 
Coast West Cumbria (Workspace) Limited outside bodies until 7 July 2019, to 
replace Councillor M Fryer.

The meeting closed at 11.30 am

Page 10



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 March 2018

Corporate Business Plan 2018/19

The Reason for the Decision To approve the 2018/19 Corporate Business 
Plan.  The Business Plan sets out specific activity 
that will be undertaken over the next year to work 
towards achieving the objectives set out in the 
Council Plan and is the proposed vehicle by 
which the Council will report progress against 
Council Plan 2015-19 commitments. 

Summary of options considered 1. Executive may wish to approve the draft 
Business Plan as presented at Appendix A.

2. Executive may wish to approve the draft 
Business Plan subject to amendments being 
made.

3. Executive may wish not to approve the draft 
Business Plan.

Recommendations That members approve the draft Business Plan 
2018/19 as presented at Appendix A. 

Financial /  Resource Implications The budget setting process is an ongoing annual 
exercise that determines the financial plans for 
current and future years and is informed by the 
Council’s priorities as set out in the Council Plan. 
Information on resources allocated is contained in 
the Council Budget published annually.  The 
Business Plan sets out the revenue budget 
summary position for 2018/19.  There are no 
additional resource requirements requested 
arising directly from this report.

Legal / Governance Implications The Council Plan forms part of the Council’s 
budget and policy framework and responsibility 
for it is shared between the Executive and the 
Council.

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from this report.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Business Plan will be delivered by service 
areas with relevant risks being managed on an 
operational level. At a corporate level the Council 
will manage the risk of not delivering the Plan and 
therefore not achieving its objectives.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

An equality impact assessment of the Council 
Plan has been carried out.  The equality 
implications of individual projects and 
programmes of work will be considered as 
appropriate. 

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The Business Plan sets out specific activity that 
will be undertaken over the next year to work 
towards achieving the objectives set out in the 
Council Plan.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith 

Lead Officer Alex FitzGerald, Policy Manager (Corporate, 
Performance and Information) 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications 

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty N Health and Safety Y

Background papers: None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council Plan 2015-19 was approved by Council in March 2015.  The 
Council Plan sets out priority themes and a clear set of objectives for each 
theme for 2015-19.  The Council Plan provides a clear message to our 
residents and partners about the priorities for the Council over 4 years, and 
where the Council will focus its resources and activity. The Council Plan is 
reviewed annually to feed into the Council’s budget and business planning 
process.  

1.2 In order to track progress on delivery against the Council Plan a Business 
Plan has been created that identifies specific activity that will be undertaken 
over the next year to work towards achieving the objectives set out in the 
Council Plan. 

Page 12

mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


2.0 Business Plan 2018/19

2.1 The draft Business Plan 2018/19 is attached as Appendix A.  The Business 
Plan has been developed to ensure there is clear communication of the 
Council’s key programmes of work. The Business Plan will also be used as 
the basis for the Council’s corporate performance reporting, resulting in robust 
and regular internal and external reporting of progress against Council Plan 
commitments.

2.2 The Business Plan has been developed to give a fuller picture of how the 
whole organisation will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in the Council 
Plan, including a description of how our significant day to day service activity 
contributes to achieving our ambitions as a Council.  It has been recognised 
that the work of a number of services contribute to several Council Plan 
themes, but for the purposes of the Business Plan they have ben aligned to 
the Council plan theme(s) where they make their primary contributions.

2.3 The Business Plan is built around our Council Plan and encompasses the 
Council’s core ‘business as usual’ activities (what we do), our service 
improvement activities (what we are planning in order to improve what we do) 
including activity to deliver our key strategies and plans to support the Council 
Plan.  

2.4 The activities identified reflect the range of roles played by the Council across 
service areas. Some activities involve direct delivery of services in 
communities, some involve the commissioning of services or securing 
investment, and some involve an influencing role or the development of policy.

2.5 A summary of the key activities and approaches being taken to deliver against 
each objective in the Council Plan is given for each priority theme.  It is 
proposed that the the Council Plan Summary poster is updated once the 
Business Plan is approved to reflect the examples of activity given in the 
Business Plan for 2018/19.

2.6 In summary the Business Plan is intended to be:

 A plan that details the significant planned activities of the Council and 
how these align to the Council Plan

 A plan that shows ‘what we have to do’ day to day and ‘what we are 
planning to do in order to deliver improvement’

 A plan that enables all the staff of the Council to see how what they do 
fits with the Council Plan

 A plan that details the significant self-sufficiency savings that are 
required of services 

 A plan that ensures clear accountability for delivery

2.7 The draft Business Plan has been developed through work with each of the 
Council’s departments to identify the key programmes of work to deliver each 

Page 13



of objectives set out in the Council Plan 2015-19. In undertaking the work to 
develop the Business Plan the following considerations were taken into 
account:

 Progress made against targets/milestones set for 2017/18 

 New programmes of work resulting from internal review work, strategy 
development, development of savings proposals or national policy 
developments

 The principles of growth, efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability

2.8 Supporting the Council Plan and Business Plan, a series of delivery plans set 
out how services will contribute to the delivery of Council priorities.  
Operational responsibility for delivery of the programmes of work identified in 
the draft Business Plan sits with the relevant Heads of Service.   

2.9 Portfolio holders are responsible for ensuring the delivery of the programmes 
of work identified in the draft Business Plan – specific portfolio responsibilities 
are identified in the draft Business Plan at Appendix A. 

2.10 The Business Plan will be published alongside the Council Plan 2015-19 on 
our website and reports on achievements will be published on a quarterly 
basis. The Business Plan will be reviewed and refreshed annually to ensure it 
reflects progress made.

3.0 Consultation/Customer Focus

3.1 The Council consulted with a range of partners and stakeholders on the 
development of the Council Plan.  

3.2 The draft Business Plan has been developed through work with each of the 
Council’s departments to identify the key programmes of work for 2018/19 to 
deliver each of objectives set out in the Council Plan 2015-19. 

4.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

4.1 This is a principle underpinning decision making as set out in section 1.2 of 
the Business Plan. 

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 The budget setting process is an ongoing annual exercise that determines the 
financial plans for current and future years and is informed by the Council’s 
priorities as set out in the Council Plan. Information on resources allocated is 
contained in the Council Budget published annually.  The Business Plan sets 
out the revenue budget summary position for 2018/19.  There are no 
additional resource requirements requested arising from this report.

Page 14



6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The Council Plan forms part of the Council’s budget and policy framework and 
responsibility for it is shared between the Executive and the Council. 

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That members approve the draft Business Plan 2018/19 as presented at 
Appendix A.

Ian Frost
Chief Executive

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Delivering our Council Plan 

Business Plan 2018-2019       

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Page 17



Contents
Page

Foreword 3

1. Introduction 4 
1.1 Our Council Plan priorities 4
1.2 Our vision, values and principles 5
1.3 Our Corporate Business Plan 6

2. Progress to date – Strategic Overview 8

3. Delivering the Council Plan: Service activity by theme 16
3.1 Strengthening our economy 16
3.2 Tackling inequality 21
3.3 Enhancing our towns 25
3.4 Improving health and wellbeing 30
3.5 Creating a sustainable business 36

4. Delivering the Council Plan: Budget 42

5. Managing the Plan 44
5.1 Business planning 44
5.2 Performance management and reporting 44
5.3 Management of risk 44

6. Acronyms 46

Page 18



Foreword  
Welcome to our Council’s Business Plan for 2018/19.  

This Plan sets out the measurable outcomes that the Council, working together with our 
residents, and partners, will focus on in 2018-19.

This Plan has been developed to give a complete view of how our whole organisation will 
help to deliver the priorities in our Council Plan, including how our significant day to day 
service activity contributes to achieving our ambitions for our communities.

This Business Plan for 2018/19 sees us entering the final year our four year Council Plan 
2015-19.  When we developed the Council Plan we knew that we would be facing some 
significant challenges particularly around the loss of government funding over the four year 
period.  We also knew that there were great opportunities for both the Council and for the 
borough if we worked with partners in the public, private and community sectors to deliver 
our ambition of creating a more sustainable and prosperous Allerdale with thriving towns, 
the right housing and jobs and where people live healthy and active lives and inequalities 
are reduced.   

As we enter the final year of our current Council Plan we recognise the importance of 
continuing to focus on the significant programmes of work we began last year to deliver 
against some of our key targets such as business growth, improved housing and tackling 
poverty and this is reflected in the activity set out in this Business Plan.  Our financial 
challenges are as real as ever but we remain focused on the themes of growth and 
efficiency to ensure that we can deliver the ambitions set out in the Council Plan and 
continue to maintain and improve our front line services such as street cleaning and refuse 
collection.

We believe that the focus of our activity to date has been right and effective – examples of 
the progress we have made so far are given in the second section of this Plan and show we 
have taken significant steps towards achieving our ambitions. Starting in 2018/19 we intend 
to go much much further. For the first time in a number of years we intend to embark on a 
substantial programme of building new infrastructure for housing, leisure, business, public 
realm, tourism and investment opportunities. By developing a real and deliverable Capital 
Strategy we will use our ability to generate funding to invest significantly in the future of our 
borough to the benefit of everyone who lives, works and visits here. This programme of 
investment will set out the future sustainability of our area for years to come and continue to 
make Allerdale the primary shopping, leisure and housing area of West Cumbria.

Over the next 12 months Members and officers will be continuing to work together to ensure 
that we can take advantage of opportunities to do more to improve lives. We are in the first 
stages of an exciting new venture into digital technology by using smart, safe technology to 
protect people in their homes and save money by reducing waste and duplicated effort.  We 
will be developing a new Council Plan during 2018/19 and look forward to engaging with our 
residents, businesses and partners to develop a robust, focused and ambitious plan to take 
us forward over the next few years.

Alan Smith  Ian Frost
Leader of the Council Chief Executive

Page 19



1. Introduction
The Council Plan sets out our long-term vision for Allerdale, our corporate priority themes 
and the outcomes that we want to achieve. The Council Plan is a strategic document that 
sits next to our Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

The Council Plan reflects the challenges facing the area and what people have told the 
Council is important to them. 

We recognise that with fewer resources we cannot deliver our vision for Allerdale alone. We 
will continue to lobby, influence and work with others in partnership to deliver high quality 
public services and wider outcomes to make our borough a great place to live, work and 
visit.

1.1 Our Council Plan priorities
The Council Plan was agreed in March 2015 and sets out the Council’s vision of making 
Allerdale a great place to live, work and visit.

Our plan has 5 priority themes – these are:

Strengthening our economy
We aim to create a strong, sustainable and vibrant local economy and create 
jobs

Tackling inequality
We aim to reduce poverty and support people facing financial difficulties

Enhancing our towns
We aim to create thriving towns that are attractive and welcoming, and retain 
their distinctive characters

Improving health and wellbeing
We aim to help people live healthy and active lives, and reduce health 
inequalities

Creating a sustainable business
We aim to develop a commercially focused organisation committed to 
delivering high quality, sustainable services to the people, communities and 
businesses of Allerdale

Page 20



1.2 Our vision, values and principles 
Central to our plan is a set of values and principles that will guide us in delivering our 
priorities and through the difficult decisions we face.

Our vision - Improving lives 
Our vision is to deliver the best public services we possibly can and continue to work 
closely with residents, customers, partners, visitors and businesses to ensure we are 
improving lives.  

In order to do this we will need to develop some innovative and collaborative approaches to 
the challenges that we face – not least of which is a substantial financial challenge. 
Government grants, which used to make up a significant proportion of our income, have 
been reducing year on year and by 2021 we expect to have no revenue support grant from 
Government.  This means that all our income will then come from council tax, business 
rates and other streams such as investments or service income.  

Alongside these financial pressures Allerdale faces some other fundamental challenges:  
our population is ageing; our geography and settlement patterns pose challenges to service 
delivery; and we face some significant inequalities across our borough in terms of health, 
wealth and aspiration.

In order for us to be able to achieve the ambitions in our Council Plan and address the 
challenges we face the Council has identified two pillars that will underpin our planned and 
systematic approach – these are efficiency and growth. 

To deliver our core purpose of ‘improving lives’ we must be as efficient as possible both in 
respect of how we manage ourselves and how we deliver our services. Efficiency is more 
than just saving money - if we can better manage demand for public services, be more 
effective through better service design or innovative approaches, achieve better contract 
management and commissioning whilst making the savings required then we will be very 
well placed to deliver on our vision and strategic priorities. 

One example of a new approach described in this year’s Business Plan is a new venture 
into digital technology by using smart, safe technology to protect people in their homes and 
save money by reducing waste and duplicated effort.  This technology has a huge range of 
applications for the Council and its partners and in 2018/19 we will be undertaking the first 
stages of this project.   

Strengthening our economy is a key priority in our Council Plan. Driving growth is critical to 
creating jobs for people and can in turn reduce poverty and create a sustainable economy 
for the future.  Achieving growth is also vital to provide the funding that will allow the Council 
to deliver the high quality services that we know our residents expect. 

The Council developed three key strategies during 2016/17 to ensure we are better placed 
to deliver coherent and sustainable growth. The Business Growth Strategy sets out the 
Council’s approach to future economic growth within Allerdale and, closely linked to this, the 
Housing Strategy sets out how we will address housing requirements across the borough 
over the next 5 years.  Finally the Heritage Strategy provides a framework to enable the 
Council to ensure that the heritage of the Borough is well cared for and optimises 
opportunities for wider benefits.  Alongside this the Allerdale Local Plan sets out our local 
planning policy which is critical to driving growth across the borough.  

Page 21



This year’s Business Plan sees us continuing to focus on the significant programmes of 
work we have set out to deliver these key strategies. In addition we have very recently 
adopted a new Capital Strategy which sets out our intentions to generate funding to invest 
in the future of our borough through a substantial programme of building new infrastructure 
over the coming years for housing, leisure, business, public realm, tourism and investment 
opportunities. 

Our principles – inform our decision making:

 Strong community leadership – demonstrating leadership within our communities 
is vital if we are to achieve our ambitions and we will continue to support the role of 
councillors in providing collective community leadership and articulating the issues 
and priorities in their local areas.

 Partnership and collaboration – whilst the Council does still deliver a range of 
services directly we recognise that only through collaborating with others will we 
achieve our ambitions for our area.  

 Clear priorities based on understanding and evidence – a sound evidence base 
is vital if the Council is to identify the right priorities and make sound decisions using 
our resources to the best effect.  

 Access and fairness - people have different requirements and preferences when it 
comes to how they access our services so we will make sure we take those into 
account when we design and deliver services.  

 Being flexible and responsive in the delivery of services that support local 
need - Allerdale is made up of distinct areas with differing issues and needs so we 
may need to adapt the way we deliver services across those areas depending on 
identified need.

 Openness and transparency – we believe in the importance of being open and 
transparent in all that we do, providing the public with the information that they need 
to decide if we are performing well and responding to their needs.   

Our values – inform our behaviours:

 To be an ambassador for Allerdale 

 To take personal responsibility

 To think differently and be innovative

 To value colleagues

 To be business minded

1.3 Our Corporate Business Plan
This plan is built around our Council Plan and encompasses the Council’s core ‘business as 
usual’ activities (what we do day to day), our service improvement activities (what we are 
planning in order to improve what we do) as well as activity to deliver our key strategies and 
plans to support the Council Plan.

The Business Plan reflects the fullest extent of the Council’s services, many of which are 
driven by statutory or regulatory requirements.  We recognise that the work of a number of 
services contribute to several Council Plan themes, but for the purposes of the Business 

Page 22



Plan they have ben aligned to the Council plan theme(s) where they make their primary 
contributions.

The plan covers a period of one year – in this instance 2018/19 – and is refreshed annually.  

The 2018/19 Business Plan reflects the ambitions set out in the Council Plan 2015-19.  
Section 2 sets out the considerable progress to date in delivering those ambitions.

Section 3 gives an overview of the Council Plan priority themes and how the different 
services of the Council contribute to delivery against those themes.  For each Council Plan 
theme we set out the objectives we are working towards and the outcomes that we expect 
to see if we achieve those objectives.  There is then a description of how our significant day 
to day ‘business as usual’ service activity contributes to achieving our objectives for that 
Council Plan theme.  This is followed by details of the service improvement actions and 
activity to deliver key strategies and plans over the next year, and the key performance 
indicators that we will use to track our performance. 

Finally, Sections 4 and 5 of the plan cover the financial resources available for the year, 
plus the principal mechanisms that the Council will use to ensure the successful delivery of 
the actions and business as usual activities set out earlier in this plan. 

Page 23



2. Progress to date – Overview
Like other local authorities the Council has been facing some challenging financial times, 
and pressures such as increasing demand and public expectation in terms of the quality of 
services we deliver.  We also have a ‘super ageing’ population and inequalities between 
some of our communities.  

We have, however, achieved a lot over the past 3 years – customer satisfaction remains 
very high, we deliver good services with high levels of compliments about both our staff and 
the services we deliver and we have achieved this whilst significantly reducing our budget.  

Added to this we have delivered some exciting programmes and schemes to support the 
priorities in our Council Plan and the following paragraphs give an update on some of the 
key activity undertaken over the past year to deliver against our Council Plan priorities.  

Strengthening our economy

During 2017/18 the Council has begun delivery of three key strategies that ensure we are 
better placed to deliver coherent and sustainable growth for our area. 

The Business Growth Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to future economic growth 
within Allerdale. The Council has continued to engage with a wide range of businesses and 
relevant stakeholders through new initiatives such as the Large Employers Forum. A 
Maryport Delivery Plan has been developed and the further work to identify barriers for 
women returning to the work place has been undertaken. In addition to this the Council has 
appointed a new Destination Manager to progress key tourism related projects within the 
strategy.

Closely linked to this, the Housing Strategy sets out how we will address housing 
requirements across the borough over the next 5 years.  Activity to date has included:

 The Council has funded two capital projects which has supported the retention of 
social housing stock in the social rented market for a minimum of 5 years, which 
otherwise would have been sold on the open market.  These projects have directly 
supported GP trainees(x 6) and other health professionals (1 x paramedic) to live 
and work in the area, and contribute to the wider economy of Allerdale. 

 The Council commissioned a local architect and building contractor to convert some 
of the Council’s assets into housing. This work is due to be complete at the end of 
March 2018.

 The Council continues to negotiate the delivery of affordable homes on new 
developments.  In 2017/18, 43 new affordable homes were successfully built, which 
contributes to the sustainability of jobs in the housing building industry.  As an 
income stream, these developments have also contributed to the wider jobs markets 
including those internally to the Council such as building control, Council tax and 
planning, waste management.

 The Council has commissioned local architects to provide an options appraisal to 
include the design and costings for the potential development of a Gypsy and 
Traveller site.

Finally the Heritage Strategy provides a framework to enable the Council to ensure that the 
heritage of the Borough is well cared for and optimises opportunities for wider benefits. 

Page 24



Our local planning policy is also critical to driving growth across the borough.  Having 
adopted the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) in July 2014, we have been developing the Local 
Plan (Part 2) and this is due to be adopted in 2018. 

In order to drive economic growth the Council has utilised funding programmes to further 
the ambitions of the Council and other partners. Examples of these funding programmes 
include:

The Allerdale Social Infrastructure Fund (SIIF)

 The Council has supported a number of schemes including two major tourism 
projects in Bowness and Silloth, which include building renovation activity and will 
result in 20 new jobs; 3 business expansion projects in Maryport (Harbourside, 
Protopro and Taste of the Lakes) which will achieve 32 new jobs and safeguarded 
93 existing jobs.  

 Funding has also been used to enable three new business start-ups that will create 4 
new jobs, and match funding has been secured for European grants to enable the 
Business Growth Hub to provide business support solely dedicated to Allerdale 
inhabitants.  

European funding 
 The Council has secured funding of £1.5m from the European Regional 

Development Fund (ERDF). The Council is contributing £1m of match funding to 
develop 23,500 sq. ft. (2,183 sq. m.) of industrial workshops at Reedlands Business 
Park in Workington to support the development of local businesses. Construction 
work is planned to start in July 2018. 

Improving health and wellbeing  
The new Leisure Centre in Workington celebrated its first anniversary in 2017 – this is a 
high quality facility that is proving extremely popular and has seen vastly increased usage 
figures since its opening.  

The quality of the Leisure Centre was 
recognised in 2017 when Leisure Centre 
got the top award in the North West in 
the 2017 RICS Leisure & Tourism 
category, for projects that make an 
outstanding contribution to tourism and 
leisure facilities in the region. The award 
citation said that “this is an excellent 
modern leisure centre, which could act 
as a template for other towns.”  

Other highlights of our work on sports, arts and leisure include:

Successful delivery of the second year of the Leisure Strategy Action Plan improving 
playing pitches, improving leisure and sports facilities and encouraging greater participation 
in sport and physical activity.  

Supporting festivals and events through the Allerdale Live Partnership to enhance the 
vitality and raise the profile of the area and offer cultural and sporting events to improve 
health and wellbeing including: 

Page 25



 Lakesman Triathlon - approximately 400 athletes participated in the 2.4 mile swim, 
112 mile bike ride and 26.2 mile run and the economic impact assessment shows 
that the event generated an estimate of  £1.48m  of spend in the local economy, and 
the return on investment is calculated at over £13 per £1 invested in the event.

 Reboot - took place in July, attracting around 700 people, a significant increase on 
the previous year.

 Festival of Running - also took place in July attracting more runners than the 
previous year.

 Northbound street festival in 
Cockermouth enjoyed an 
increase in visitors with around 
10,000 people reported to have 
visited, a 25% increase on the 
last event. Direct economic 
benefit to the town is estimated 
to be £1.97m.

 Cockermouth Taste food festival 
took place in September. The 
event was a success and 
featured around 80 stalls, 
masterclasses and a comedy 
night. Around 40,000 attended with an estimated economic impact of approx. 
£1.97m with an increase in visitor spend up 58% and increase in number of visitors 
from outside the county. 

15 local festivals and events supported with £25,790 of grant support facilitating £248,582 
of investment, providing greater opportunities for participation and enjoyment of sports arts 
and heritage in the community. Examples include: Cockermouth River Lantern Parade and 
Finale Show; Keswick Victorian Fayre; Silloth Vintage Rally; Workington Kite Festival; and 
"The Beauty of Earth" visual arts exhibition in Wigton.

Supported the first multi-organisation bid from the West Cumbria Cultural Education 
Partnership to Children and the Arts. The 3 year project will work with approximately 500 
young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and local arts and heritage organisations 
(e.g. Senhouse Museum, Rosehill Theatre, Theatre by the Lake and Wordswoth Trust). 

Supporting improvements at our local museums – we have supported the new fixed term 
post of Learning & Activities Coordinator at Keswick Museum and have supported Helena 
Thompson Museum with website costs and costs towards gaining ‘Learning outside the 
classroom’ accreditation.

To support access to suitable and safe housing we have:

 Adopted a new Housing Grants and Assistance Policy which has introduced a range 
of grants available to help vulnerable householders stay safe and well in their homes 
and also a grant to assist empty home owners bring their property back into use. 

 Seconded a Housing Occupational Therapist from Cumbria County Council with a 
view to improving the Disabled Facilities Grant process for the customer. The 
Housing OT has helped to increase the number of grant referrals received by the 
team and improved customer waiting times.   

 Delivered housing improvements through grant assistance to 159 homes across 
Allerdale

 Produced a draft Housing Enforcement Policy to update our existing policy and 
ensure that the Council can make full use of the new powers to tackle rogue 

Page 26



landlords introduced in the Housing and Planning Act.  The new policy is expected to 
be approved in May 2018.

 Held 2 Landlord Forums and published 3 Landlord Newsletters to prepare landlords 
for the changes in legislation. 

Highlights of other work on the health and wellbeing agenda include:

 Through the Health and Wellbeing Forum working with Age UK to deliver a 
community falls prevention programme, supported the production of Soaked, 
working with CADAS on smoking cessation and having a healthy attitude towards 
alcohol, supporting the local dementia action alliances and running a series of health 
promotion campaigns.

 Through the Cumbria Housing and Wellbeing Group, the Council are leading on a 
County-wide review of Extra Care.

 As part of a partnership with other councils in Cumbria, health, ambulance service 
and the Lake District National Park we have launched the Guaranteed Interview 
Scheme. This is a commitment that we have made to support the Health Services in 
Cumbria in attracting and recruiting health professionals into key hard to recruit to 
roles. The partner organisations recognise that the Scheme offers shared benefits 
such as attracting and retaining talented people in Cumbria; raising the profile of 
Cumbria as an attractive place to live and work; and  providing a much wider talent 
pool for all participating employers to search in.  

Tackling inequality 
Supporting people to deal with money problems by working with partners to promote safe 
credit is a specific objective in the Council Plan and in the past year the Council has 
supported the development of the West Cumbria Credit Union (WCCU) with funding from 
the Council’s Priorities Fund enabling the WCCU to open a flagship retail branch (branded 
Affinity) in Workington town centre to make it much easier for existing and new members to 
access services. The flagship branch opened on 25 October 2017 and forms part of the 
WCCU’s growth plan to increase provision of secure, guaranteed savings and affordable 
loans to reduce the number of residents who use high interest doorstep lenders and high 
street organisations. 

In the past year we have continued to improve signposting and referrals for benefits 
customers who need additional money matters or other support – in particular providing 
personal budgeting support for Universal Credit customers. 
   
We have continued to support various advice and advocacy services such as the Citizens 
Advice Bureau, and voluntary groups such as the Foodbank across the borough supporting 
some of our more vulnerable residents.

We have targeted our Council apprenticeships to people from priority areas to provide 
employment opportunities.

We have made good progress in developing more affordable housing where it is needed 
most, highlights include:

 Updating the Council’s s106 agreement, to ensure that we are able to maximise the 
affordable housing provision, and, also to ensure that housing is allocated in line with 
Council policy within the community.

Page 27



 The housing development team have supported Castles and Coasts in supporting 
the request to transfer sale properties to rental properties at Greta Gardens. 

 We have supported new developments in areas where Private Ownership has 
predominately dominated the market: High Harrington; Stainburn; and Cockermouth.

 We have worked in partnership with Braithwaite Housing Group to support them in 
establishing themselves as a formally constituted group and are they now formally 
registered with the FSA as a Co-operative and Community Benefit Society under the 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.

 The Council has set up a new grants programme to support the development of new 
homes in areas where second home ownership is prevalent, and it is aimed at being 
delivered through Community Land Trusts or community groups.

Other activity on the housing and homelessness agenda has included:

 Working with the Homelessness Forum partners to look at Local Authority responses 
to the introduction of the new Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) and how we need 
to respond, as well as seeking options for a new IT system for the delivery of 
homelessness services.  

 Supporting the review of the IT system and contract for Cumbria Choice.  

In terms of activity to address fuel poverty and affordable warmth highlights include:

 The Big Allerdale Switch has continued throughout the year with three auctions 
taking place. At the time of writing this report two auctions have taken place (the 
third being in February 2018). The scheme has seen a total of 662 registrations and 
169 switches saving residents over £200.00 on their fuel costs.

 A new Housing Grants and Assistance Policy has been introduced which sets out a 
variety of grants available to vulnerable homeowners stay safe and warm in their 
homes. Since July the Housing and Health team have visited 52 clients to process 
Safe and Warm Grants.  

 Continued to act as the lead authority for a successful bid to the Central Heating 
Fund, a government funded scheme. The scheme has helped to install 77 first time 
central heating systems into fuel poor households in Allerdale. The scheme has also 
attracted an additional £57,406 amount of funding from ECO (Energy Company 
Obligation) which has allowed the original grant funding to go further.   

Enhancing our towns 
The Council continues to support the development of vibrant town centres across Allerdale. 

We have undertaken various enhancement and refurbishment works to improve our towns:

 Maryport Facelift Grant Scheme - the £50,000 facelift scheme has supported the 
improvement of nearly 90 properties in Maryport. This grant was also match funded 
by the businesses to a value of £27,700. 

 The installation of new lighting equipment and rewiring to the ‘coastline’ seats and 
monolith structure at Washington Street, Workington. 

 Refurbishment works to Keswick Town Hall to enhance the building both internally 
and externally and improve the visiting experience of Town Hall users.  

Page 28



 Refurbishment of one of the oldest cast iron lighthouses 
in the country at Maryport Harbour funded by a £50,000 
grant, on behalf of Maryport Coastal Communities 
Team. The landmark, which sits on Maryport’s harbour, 
underwent a major refurbishment to protect it for the 
future, and replace recent additions which were not in 
keeping with the original architecture. The Grade II 
listed structure was repaired, re-decorated and 
illuminated as part of an enhancement scheme which 
involved participation by a local school and community 
groups. The Maryport Lighthouse project was one of 15 
initiatives along the British coastline to benefit from a 
share of £700,000 of government cash with the aim of 
regenerating seaside towns. 

Other activity to enhance our towns has included:  

 We have taken on 5 street scene Environmental Hit Squad apprentices who have 
improved a number of areas of low environmental quality across the Borough and 
worked towards achieving their NVQ in Environmental Street Management. 

 Disposal of public toilets as identified in the public toilet review 2014 is being 
achieved by an ‘invest to save’ concept, i.e. the Council is investing and improving 
present toilet facilities prior to transfer to town councils or other third party 
organisations. Following refurbishment and transfer, the Council will make savings to 
the ongoing revenue budget as part of annual self-sufficiency targets. 

 Conversion of Maryport Public Toilets, which suffered issues of anti-social behaviour 
- the Council successfully completed a tender exercise to appoint building 
contractors to convert this property into two single person dwellings.  This work 
commenced in November 2017 and is due to be complete in spring 2018. 

Creating a sustainable business
The results of our 2016 residents’ survey suggest that we are delivering high quality 
services valued by our residents.  We have maintained very high levels of satisfaction with 
our services, and in many cases the figures show an improvement on previous years. In 
total 73% of respondents were very or fairly satisfied with the way the Council provides its 
services (this has risen from 39% in 2008).  

Our 2017/18 customer satisfaction survey of customers contacting the Council through the 
main customer contact number, 0303 123 1702, showed that 86% of customers surveyed 
were satisfied or very satisfied with the overall service they received when contacting us.

We also continue to achieve awards for our services, our Bereavement Services have 
retained the gold standard for the Charter for the Bereaved for the 3rd year in a row.

Work to redesign the Allerdale House reception and customer service centre was 
completed at end of December on time and on budget.  The new centre was designed to 
provide a much improved customer experience with private meeting rooms, comfortable 
waiting area including a children’s play zone, there are also public access computers and a 
payment kiosk. The design is Dementia-friendly which has been achieved the use of 
different colours and floor finishes to identify different zones within the space.

Page 29



Development of the myAllerdale on-line 
reporting service making it easy for customers 
to contact the council continues enabling 
customers to report a wide range of problems. 
The service now has over 4000 registered 
customers using the wide range of on-line forms 
through our website and the myAllerdale app, to 
report issues. Customers can now contact us to 
let us know about problems with bins, 
abandoned vehicles, and fly tipping as well as 
nuisance issues including noise, graffiti, 

bonfires, smells, and antisocial behaviour on-line 24 hours a day.  
 
In our drive to move to paperless where possible, our elected members now all have 
tablets.  At the first full council meeting in January 2018 Democratic Services will be 
encouraging as many members as possible to use tablets rather than printed copies and 
from the March 2018 meeting printed copies will only be available for members of the 
public. 

ICT Strategy delivery:

 Over the past year we have been continuing a programme to deliver efficiencies and 
establish a foundation for a flexible approach to work to support mobile working and 
business process automation with the implementation of cloud based systems 
including Office 365, myAllerdale, Cloud contact centre telephony and the BT 
OnePhone system. 

 In addition to supporting the day to day running of the organisation the ICT team 
have designed and installed a range of network improvements and completed the 
migration of the old network to a new Cloud Managed Network Facility. The upgrade 
includes improving the speed of the network and improving the overall security of the 
network. Improvements like this behind the scenes are the key to the organisation 
being agile and able to work flexibly. 

We continue to look for opportunities to develop our business and ensure that our 
customers receive great services.  Over the past year we have:

 Introduced charging for recycling which has helped off-set the costs for the collection 
and processing of recycling 

 Gained an additional 107 new customers in trade waste

 Taken on the management of the Workington multi-storey car park with minimal 
disruption for our customers

We proactively seek opportunities to improve our organisation and services and have 
requested 2 peer reviews in the past year:

 The Local Government Association undertook a peer review of our Overview and 
Scrutiny function in early 2017 and we are now some way down the line in 
implementing the action plan from that.

 A Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards Peer Review was completed by Wyre 
and Lancaster Council in 2017 with the Council achieving the ‘conforms’ opinion for 
all areas reviewed.

Page 30



In the past year we have run dementia friends information sessions for members and 
colleagues to improve awareness of the issues and have trained colleagues as Mental 
Health at Work First Aiders.

In 2017 we gained Bronze in the Better Health at Work Award – demonstrating our 
commitment to promoting the health and wellbeing of our staff.  In 2018/19 we will be going 
for Silver!

 

Page 31



3. Delivering the Council Plan: Service activity 
by theme
This section of the Business Plan identifies how our services fulfil the Council Plan priority 
themes.  Whilst it is recognised that the work of services contribute to a number of Council 
Plan themes, for the purposes of the Business Plan they have been aligned to the theme(s) 
under which they make their primary contribution.

3.1 Strengthening our economy

Strengthening our economy
We aim to create a strong, sustainable and vibrant local economy and create 
jobs

In working towards this aim our focus will be on the following objectives:

 Improving skills and education to enable businesses to recruit suitably skilled 
staff by continuing to support education and training providers and understanding 
the requirements of business through further business engagement

 Encouraging businesses to grow or move into the area by implementing the 
recommendations within the Council’s Business Growth Strategy; ensuring effective 
relationships with businesses; supporting planning applications for new development 
in line with planning policy; and making sure that a range of quality sites are 
identified to meet the needs of new and existing businesses across Allerdale (Local 
Plan - Part 2).

 Improving infrastructure by continuing to work with and support partners including 
the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership and Cumbria County Council to deliver 
major schemes such as the new access bridge at the Port of Workington.

 Supporting the development of renewable energy by supporting planning 
applications for new developments that generate renewable and low carbon energy 
and in line with Local Plan policy; undertaking activity to further the District Heat 
Network project; understanding the Hendry review on Tidal lagoons; and working 
with partners to mitigate impact of the North West Coast connections project.

 Encouraging tourism to help improve the local economy by increasing the 
attractiveness of ‘Place’ to support the labour market, make local centres a more 
attractive place to live and boost overall business activity through increased tourism 
and increased local spend. 

 Supporting the development of more homes where they are needed by 
supporting proposals for new housing development in line with the Council’s Spatial 
Strategy, Housing Strategy and planning policies; exploring alternative housing 
delivery models to ensure deprived housing markets are targeted; and ensuring that 
plans for housing growth are proactive, and clearly linked to wider economic 
opportunities

 

Page 32



Outcomes:
We will know we are achieving our objectives if we see…

 Fewer people out of work (measured by unemployment levels and youth 
unemployment levels)

 The number of jobs located in Allerdale maintained or increased 
 An increase in the number of businesses in Allerdale 
 An increase in the number of businesses with more than 50 employees
 An increase in net domestic migration of working age people to the district
 Increased tourist expenditure and employment  
 More housing provision

What we are doing (business as usual):

The following paragraphs describe our significant day to day service activity that contributes 
to achieving our objectives for this Council Plan theme:

Place Development (PD): supporting tourism and ensuring the Council’s land and property 
portfolio is used effectively and potentially generating regeneration; advising on and 
determining planning applications; planning enforcement, obligations and appeals; working 
proactively with applicants for planning permission and building regulations approval to find 
solutions which mean that applications for new development can be approved wherever 
possible. Proactively managing and developing the Council’s portfolio of land and buildings 
to support economic growth. 

Strategy, Policy and Performance (SPP): shaping the development and growth of 
Allerdale through appropriate policy and strategy; using intelligence to drive policy 
development and implementation; horizon scanning to ensure the organisation is identifying 
challenges and opportunities; strategic stakeholder management to drive policy agendas; 
supporting the provision of skills, education and employment opportunities; encouraging 
business growth and investment; continued business engagement. 

Community Services (CS): operation of a commercial trade waste service; provision of 
clean streets and car parking facilities; attracting and supporting festivals and events to 
raise the profile to visitors and businesses.  

Housing and Health (HH): support and drive the development of new housing to support 
growth; develop strong partnerships to support the delivery of new housing; regularly asses 
housing need across the borough; ensure that the Council maximises the provision of 
affordable housing on all new developments, particularly in areas of greatest need. 

Financial Services (FS): supporting the retention of growth within Cumbria through our 
membership of the Cumbrian Business Rates Pool; working with service partners to 
develop financially robust plans to support growth.  

Governance (GOV): providing legal services and advice to support delivery of projects and 
new delivery models; providing an effective land charges and licensing service and 
assurance and risk management support for projects

Customer, Transformation & Commissioning: Providing a range of front and back office 
services including collection of Council Tax and NNDR, access to information and services 

Page 33



for our customers, as well as supporting the business to deliver its objectives through 
effective commissioning & procurement, project management and provision of reliable ICT 
systems.  

What we are planning on doing:

The delivery of the following key activities and projects support delivery of our objectives for 
this Council Plan theme:

ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected financial 
impact

Service Portfolio 

1.1 Implement the ‘strengthening 
general conditions’ growth 
actions within the Business Growth 
Strategy including supporting local 
entrepreneurial initiatives and 
managing the ERDF bid for the 
Information and Communication 
Technology Improvement Support 
Project 

2017/20 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate additional 
business rates 
income

SPP Economic 
Growth/ 
Leader

1.2 Implement the Strengthening 
Manufacturing offer actions within 
the Business Growth Strategy such 
as growing the manufacturing forum 
and large employer engagement

2017/20 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate additional 
business rates 
income  

SPP Economic 
Growth/ 
Leader

1.3 Develop a new Loans Fund for 
SME’s in Allerdale – this will be an 
evergreen investment pot that will be 
targeted at those SME’s that wish to 
expand and create additional 
employment in Allerdale.  

March 
2019

Initial investment of 
£250k per year for 2 
years (SIIF 
funding). Fund will 
generate income for 
the Council through 
repayments once 
established 

SPP Leader

1.4 Work with the Homes and 
Communities Agency to facilitate 
the development of new sites for 
housing, this may include partnering 
arrangements with developers. 
Specific targets will be set for 
individual sites once identified. 

2018/19 Contribution to 
increased NHB and 
Council Tax

PD
/HH

Economic 
Growth/  
Housing, 
Health and  
Wellbeing

1.5 Undertake formal consultations and 
submission to Secretary of State for 
examination prior to adoption of 
Local Plan Part 2 in July 2018 to 
identify sites for development and 
support growth in the borough 

July 2018 Contribution to 
increased NHB, 
Council Tax and 
Business Rates

SPP Leader

1.6 Deliver actions to develop new 
market and affordable housing as 
set out in the Housing Strategy 
including:

2017/21 Contribution to 
increased NHB and 
Council Tax

HH/SPP Housing, 
Health and  
Wellbeing

Page 34



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected financial 
impact

Service Portfolio 

 Supporting developers to 
provide a range of options to 
deliver affordable housing 
through HCA schemes

 Maximising housing 
opportunities to drive economic 
growth

 Developing partnerships to 
deliver new housing

 Using Council assets to deliver 
housing 

 Undertaking research and 
policy development activity on 
self-build and custom build to 
identify available land and 
opportunities

1.7 Plan for how we use additional 
retained growth through Business 
Rates Pool and undertake risk 
analysis and scenario planning for 
loss of that growth   

2018/20 FS/ SPP Corporate 
Resources

1.8 Complete the acquisition of land at 
Lillyhall Business Park from 
Homes England to enable future 
development projects to support 
economic growth

April 2019 Cost of site 
acquisition with 
future income from 
land sales/rents and 
increased business 
rates. 

PD Economic 
Growth 

1.9 Increase percentage of Council 
spend with local businesses 
providing goods and services 
through activity to proactively 
engage with local businesses as part 
of procurement and commissioning 

Increase 
local 
spend 
from 40% 
to 42% by 
March 
2019

Investment in the 
local economy

CTC Transform-
ation

Key Performance Indicators:

The following indicators are recognised as key to the management of performance in our 
services delivering against this Council Plan priority theme:

Indicator Target 
2018/19 Service

Jobs created/safeguarded through effective management of 
external funding 50 SPP

Nos. of businesses engaged 50 SPP 

Payment of invoices to local Cumbrian businesses within 14 days 98% FS

Page 35



% of major planning applications determined within statutory period 90% PD

% of minor and other planning applications determined within 
statutory period 90% PD

No. of housing units granted planning permission 4131 SPP

No. of new housing completions 3442 SPP

Full plans determined within 5 weeks (Building Control) 85% PD

% of Local Land Charges Searches carried out within 10 working 
days 95% GOV

% of Council spend (less than £50k) on goods and services with 
local suppliers and companies 42% CTC

In addition to data on these indicators services will also capture and report on a much wider 
range of indicators to effectively manage and monitor service delivery. 

1 This figure is based on the Local Plan target of 304 dwellings per annum and takes into account historic 
under-delivery over the Plan period and includes a 20% buffer as required by the NPPF in planning for 
housing
2 This figure is based on the Local Plan target of 304 dwellings per annum and takes into account historic 
under-delivery over the Plan period.

Page 36



3.2 Tackling inequality

Tackling inequality
We aim to reduce poverty and support people facing financial difficulties

In working towards this aim our focus will be on the following objectives:

 Supporting people to deal with money problems by providing advice, advocacy 
and support around debt advice and financial capability and in particular working 
closely with DWP and partner organisations to provide personal budgeting support to 
customers moving to Universal Credit. 

 Helping to create more affordable housing where it is needed most by supporting 
and facilitating schemes with Registered Providers and maximising the Community 
Housing Fund to support communities develop their own housing by the 
establishment of Community Land Trusts; by making sure that new developments 
include affordable housing where viable; and by using our own assets or land where 
we can.  

 Helping people to improve their prospects by providing skills, education and 
employment opportunities by delivering the skills and employment actions within 
the Council’s Business Growth Strategy; supporting the delivery of European 
Funded Programmes; and working with partners to influence and improve education 
provision.

 Helping those most in need such as low income families, pensioners in poverty, 
those experiencing fuel and rural poverty by supporting residents to claim the 
benefits they are entitled to; signposting to other support; reducing or preventing 
homelessness; and introducing discretionary safe and warm grants.

 Continuing to pay the Living Wage and encouraging contractors and local 
businesses to do the same 

 Helping residents save on their energy bills by continuing to run the Big Allerdale 
Switch three times a year and providing householders with advice and signposting 
on energy saving initiatives.

Outcomes:
We will know we are achieving our objectives if we see….

 Fewer people out of work (measured by unemployment levels and youth 
unemployment levels) 

 A lower proportion of the workforce with low or no skills

 Fewer children living in poverty in our target wards

 Fewer people using Foodbanks

 Fewer people in fuel poverty

 More affordable homes delivered

Page 37



What we are doing (business as usual):

The following paragraphs describe our significant day to day service activity that contributes 
to achieving our objectives for this Council Plan theme:
 
Strategy, Policy and Performance (SPP): developing appropriate policy and strategy that 
take account of inequalities; developing appropriate spatial policy to ensure appropriate 
affordable housing provision; using intelligence to drive policy development and 
implementation; horizon scanning to ensure the organisation is identifying challenges and 
opportunities; strategic stakeholder management to drive policy agendas; supporting the 
provision of skills, education and employment opportunities throughout the Borough; and 
encouraging local businesses to pay the living wage.

Place Development (PD): working proactively with developers to make sure that new 
developments include affordable housing where viable. 

Housing and health (HH): work to support the creation of more affordable housing 
including working with Registered Providers make new housing developments affordable; 
and work to strengthen and enable communities to become deliverers of affordable 
housing; providing a housing options and homelessness service focused on prevention, 
including provision of temporary accommodation where needed and support to clients in to 
enable planned move on; regulating the quality of private sector housing; offering safe and 
warm grants; and helping residents save on their energy bills through schemes like the Big 
Switch and offering advice and signposting to other affordable warmth schemes. 

Customer, Transformation and Commissioning (CTC): providing access to information 
and services for our customers including assessment and payment of housing benefits, 
council tax support; supporting benefit claimants; supporting people to deal with money 
problems by providing advice, advocacy and support around debt advice and financial 
capability; developing flexible ICT solutions to enable staff to work flexibly across the district 
with access to systems when and where they need them.

What we are planning on doing:

The delivery of the following key activities and projects support delivery of our objectives for 
this Council Plan theme:

ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial impact

Service Portfolio

2.1 Deliver the increasing wider 
employment actions within the 
Business Growth Strategy to gain a 
better understanding of the issues 
facing an under-represented group in 
Allerdale’s workforce 

2017/20 Longer term 
reduction in 
expenditure 
supporting 
vulnerable groups

SPP Economic 
Growth/ 
Leader

2.2 Work with partners to ensure that 
there is a network of support for 
young people to enhance their 
employability (Business Growth 
Strategy – Strengthening 
Manufacturing priority actions) 

2018/19 Longer term 
reduction in 
expenditure 
supporting 
vulnerable groups

SPP Economic 
Growth/ 
Leader

Page 38



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial impact

Service Portfolio

2.3 Deliver the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy action plan including:

 ensuring people in need can 
access food and supporting 
food initiatives and schemes

 addressing fuel poverty
 supporting advice and 

advocacy services  
 working with partners to 

address barriers to 
employment 

2018/20 SPP/ 
HH/
CTC

Leader/ 
Transform
-ation/ 
Housing, 
Health 
and  
Wellbeing

2.4 Deliver the objective to develop 
affordable housing in the Housing 
Strategy including:

 Empowering communities to 
deliver affordable housing 
through Community Land Trusts

 Supporting developers to 
provide a range of options to 
deliver affordable housing 
through HCA schemes

 Proactive work with RPs to 
evaluate allocations for housing 
to ensure there is a fair and 
transparent approach to support 
those in greatest housing need

 Maximising affordable housing 
provision through early 
discussion/negotiation with 
planning officers and developers

2017/21

2/3 new 
CLTs 
established 
by 2021

Increased 
contribution to 
NHB and Council 
Tax

SPP/ 
HH

Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

2.5 Deliver the actions in the Housing 
Strategy to reduce or prevent 
homelessness including:

 Undertaking early preventative 
work and work towards the 
requirements of the new 
Homelessness Reduction Act

 Reviewing temporary homeless 
accommodation to ensure 
resource matches demand

 Exploring options to provide a 
full emergency accommodation 
service for single non-priority 
homeless

 Procurement and 
implementation of a new ICT 
system for working towards the 
new Act requirements

 Carry out full review and audit of 
the homelessness section to 
determine value for money and 
best practice methodologies

2017/21 Contribute 
towards reduction 
in temporary 
accommodation 
costs

SPP/ 
HH

Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

Page 39



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial impact

Service Portfolio

2.6 Undertake a programme of activity 
to address fuel poverty and 
affordable warmth including:
 Running the Big Allerdale Switch 

three times a year and targeting 
towards our deprived 
neighbourhoods and those on 
pre-payment metres

 Delivery of Discretionary Safe 
and Warm Grants

Feb, May 
Oct 2018

Income generated 
from no. of 
registrants that 
switch 

Income generated 
from ABC fee 
(12%)

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

Key Performance Indicators:

The following indicators are recognised as key to the management of performance in our 
services delivering against this Council Plan priority theme:

Indicator Target 
2018/19

Service

Time taken to process Housing Benefit new claims 18 days CTC

Time taken to process Council Tax Reduction Scheme new 
claims 20 days CTC

Time taken to process Housing Benefit change of 
circumstances 7 days CTC

Time taken to process Council Tax Reduction Scheme change 
of  Circumstances 7 days CTC

No of affordable homes facilitated by the Council 100 units HH

Affordable homes allocated to those with a local connection 
and in line with S106 obligations 100% PD/HH/SPP

Percentage of homeless decisions made within guidelines (56 
days) 100% HH

In addition to data on these indicators services will also capture and report on a much wider 
range of indicators to effectively manage and monitor service delivery. 

Page 40



3.3 Enhancing our towns

Enhancing our towns
We aim to create thriving towns that are attractive and welcoming, and retain 
their distinctive characters

In working towards this aim our focus will be on the following objectives:

 Assisting and supporting businesses by undertaking enhanced business 
engagement and supporting the development of a diverse economy within local 
centres.

 Developing thriving and vibrant towns by developing and expanding Destination 
branding in partnership with stakeholders and supporting festivals and events in 
town centres.

 Making our towns attractive and welcoming by requiring new developments to be 
well designed; taking enforcement action, where appropriate, to secure 
improvements to untidy sites and buildings and to bring empty homes back into use; 
and seeking to improve the quality of place to make sure that our towns have broad 
appeal and are maximising on their heritage opportunities.

Outcomes:
We will know we are achieving our objectives if we see…

 Increased satisfaction with town centres

 Increased satisfaction with cleanliness of open spaces

 Increased town centre business occupancy rates

 Fewer empty properties

What we are doing (business as usual):

The following paragraphs describe our significant day to day service activity that contributes 
to achieving our objectives for this Council Plan theme:

Strategy, Policy and Performance (SPP): developing appropriate planning policy; using 
intelligence to drive policy development and implementation; horizon scanning to ensure the 
organisation is identifying challenges and opportunities; strategic stakeholder management 
to drive policy agendas; supporting businesses and encouraging business growth. 

Place Development (PD): supporting tourism; town centre management; support for 
festivals and events; markets, multi-agency walkabouts; working proactively with applicants 
for planning permission and building regulations approval to find solutions which mean that 
applications for new development can be approved wherever possible and taking 
enforcement action where appropriate. 

Community Services (CS): keeping the streets clean including enforcement on fly tipping, 
littering and dog fouling; support for events and festivals; working with local communities to 
improve and manage green open spaces and environmental heritage; waste collection; and 

Page 41



collection and retention of stray dogs. Provision of a bereavement service and maintenance 
of Council’s Cemeteries. Management and enforcement of car parks.

Governance (GOV): licensing policy and procedures for taxis, pubs and restaurants, 
events and festivals; work through the Community Safety Partnership on schemes such as 
Pub Watch and Taxi Marshalls, as well as CSP funding for youth engagement activities.

Housing and Health (HH): work to reduce the number of long term empty homes; 
engaging with home owners to ensure their properties are maintained or improved to an 
appropriate standard and do not cause nuisance to neighbours; supporting businesses at 
events and festivals with bespoke advice on food hygiene and health and safety. 

Financial Services (FS):  Property Services – support and inspect town centre 
infrastructure; maintenance of car parking provision within town centres; provision of public 
conveniences.

What we are planning on doing:

The delivery of the following key activities and projects support delivery of our objectives for 
this Council Plan theme:

ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or measure

Expected 
financial impact

Head of 
Service

Portfolio

3.1 Implement the ‘Improve the vitality 
of Allerdale’s local centres’ actions 
within the Business Growth Strategy 
including:
 Delivering activity to implement 

the Maryport Delivery Plan 
 Facilitating town centre 

environmental enhancements 
through grant funded schemes

 Undertake feasibility work to 
develop proposals to support the 
development of Keswick 
Showcase Area (working with 
LDNPA)

2018/20

2019

2019

2019

Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income and 
reduce costs 
associated with 
areas of decline

PD Economic 
Growth

3.2 Implement the new approach to the 
tourism offer actions within the 
Business Growth Plan including 
branding activity, website 
development, and promotional 
materials including:
 Implementation of a Destination 

website
 Work with UCLAN to develop 

initiatives to support tourism in 
West Cumbria

 Run a series of tourism breakfast 
briefings to engage with tourism 
sector

 Run Allerdale Day event in 
Manchester to promote 

2017/20

May 2018

September 
2018

March 2019

August 
2018

Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income 

PD Tourism 
and 
Culture

Page 42



Allerdale’s offer for businesses 
(business section)

 Work with partners to develop a 
night time economy plan for 
Workington

 Maximise the opportunities for 
Allerdale business and 
organisations from the 
commencement of services from 
Carlisle Lake District Airport by 
developing packages for 
customers.

 Work with partners to target the 
Chinese market to attract more 
Chinese visitors especially 
independent travellers to 
Allerdale

2018/20

2018/19

2018/19

3.3 Continue to support coastal 
communities teams and the 
implementation of their economic 
plans – support delivery of cycle 
track

2018/19 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income and 
reduce costs 
associated with 
areas of decline

PD Tourism 
and 
Culture

3.4 Implementing the actions contained 
within the Heritage Strategy to 
develop a Heritage Forum for 
Allerdale, examine the impact of 
heritage on council services and 
conduct an impact assessment for 
heritage in Allerdale

2018/19 Potential 
reduction in long 
term maintenance 
of heritage assets

SPP/ 
PD/CS

Tourism 
and 
Culture

3.5 Work to get Curwen Hall off ‘at risk’ 
register to enhance the heritage 
offer in Workington and make the 
Hall more sustainable for the future

2019 FS Corporate 
Resources

3.6 Undertake a programme of 
improvements to our nature 
reserves and open spaces to 
encourage access to and enjoyment 
of open spaces and conservation of 
the natural environment:

 Delivery of Harrington reservoir 
de-silting and restoration 
project 

 Preparation and submission of 
Stage 1 HLF Parks for People 
grant application for Workington 
Hall Parklands

 Delivery of habitat and 
infrastructure improvements at 
Siddick Pond LNR, including 
bird hide exhibition

July 2018

Aug 2018

May 2018

Phase 1 

Reduction in long 
term maintenance 
costs. Income 
through 
investment into 
area

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

Page 43



 Completion of improvements to 
public realm of Fleming Square

 Develop programme of public 
realm  improvements 
incorporating Brow Top, Central 
Way Underpass and 
Workington Leisure Centre

May 2018

Phase 2 
March 2019

3.7 Deliver a programme of Spring 
Cleans in our local areas with 
volunteers and Environmental Hit 
Squad to improve the Local 
Environmental Quality of our Towns 

8 spring 
cleans by 
Sept 2018

Increased 
investment 
income 

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

3.8 Undertake a targeted programme 
of zero tolerance environmental 
enforcement in areas identified as  
litter, dog fouling or fly tipping 
hotspots

15 targeted 
sessions by 
March 2019 

Increased 
investment 
income

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

3.9 Undertake a number of high-profile 
environmental enforcement media 
campaigns raising the awareness of 
the work of the Council in tackling 
dog-fouling, littering and fly-tipping.

3 
campaigns 
undertaken 
in 2018/19

Increased 
investment 
Income

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

3.10 Deliver activity as part of the 
Housing Strategy to reduce the 
number of long term empty 
homes including:

 Delivering Empty Property 
Grants

 Identify and work with 
community groups that want to 
utilise empty homes to provide 
housing for their 
clients/residents.

 Develop an Empty Homes 
Strategy

10 grants in 
2018/19 

Identify 
community 
groups to 
work with in 
2018/19

Fee Generated 
from ABC fee 
(12%)

Reduction in 
officer time spent 
dealing with 
environmental 
crime

HH/ 
SPP

Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

3.11 Work with partner agencies on the 
development of the Allerdale Multi-
Agency Problem-solving Hub to 
provide a more joined up approach 
to tackling crime, disorder and anti-
social behaviour across Allerdale’s 
towns.
Co-ordinate input into the Hub 
across the Council’s various teams 
to explore options for working with 
Hub partners and ensure all issues 
addressed in a co-ordinated way.  
For example, work to reduce or 
prevent homelessness and tackle 
other housing related issues such as 
complaints relating to antisocial and 
criminal behaviours in the rented 
sector and empty properties. 

2018/19 Better use of 
public agencies 
resources

GOV 
/HH

Govern-
ance and 
People 
Resources

Page 44



Key Performance Indicators:

The following indicators are recognised as key to the management of performance in our 
services delivering against this Council Plan priority theme:

Indicator Target 
2018/19

Service

Number of Empty Homes Grants completed 10 HH

% of public conveniences cleaned within the SLA 100% FS

In addition to data on these indicators services will also capture and report on a much wider 
range of indicators to effectively manage and monitor service delivery. 

Page 45



3.4 Improving health and wellbeing

Improving health and wellbeing
We aim to help people live healthy and active lives, and reduce health 
inequalities

In working towards this aim our focus will be on the following objectives:

 Helping to make sure that people have access to high quality healthcare by 
ongoing liaison with our health partners.

 Working to create healthier communities through the work of the Allerdale Health 
and Wellbeing Forum and with other partners to deliver programmes and support 
communities.

 Providing access to quality leisure and cultural activities by delivering our 
Leisure Strategy Action Plan; through development of the programmes within our 
leisure centres, enhancing and protecting our green spaces, supporting arts, events, 
theatres and museums; and by implementing the recommendations within the 
Heritage Strategy.

 Maintaining a safe and clean environment by working with local communities to 
improve and manage open spaces and the built environment including adopting 
more localised management arrangements where appropriate; and by making sure 
that we have good air and water quality and clean, safe open spaces.

 Ensuring access to suitable housing by providing better housing options for our 
vulnerable and ageing population; raising standards in the private rented sector; 
improving the quality of our housing stock; and providing grants for adaptations and 
other housing improvements.  

 Protecting and promoting health and wellbeing through advice licensing and 
enforcement work; by engaging with our workforce to better understand and respond 
to their health and wellbeing needs. 

Outcomes:
We will know we are achieving our objectives if we see… 

 Improved health outcomes in our target areas (healthy weight levels, life expectancy, 
smoking rates, alcohol-related harm rates)

 Increased satisfaction with sport and leisure facilities
 An increase in the proportion of adults (16+) achieving the recommended 150 

minutes moderate activity per week
 A decrease in the proportion of adults (16+) currently not achieving 30 minutes of 

moderate physical activity per week
 Improved standards in the private rented sector
 Reduced rates of non-decent homes
 Maintenance of good environmental quality (air and water)

Page 46



What we are doing (business as usual):

The following paragraphs describe our significant day to day service activity that contributes 
to achieving our objectives for this Council Plan theme:

Housing and Health (HH): Health improvement - engagement with health partners to 
improve health outcomes for our residents.  Environmental protection - prevention of ill 
health caused by air pollution, contaminated land and private drinking water supplies, 
prevention of nuisance caused by noise and other environmental matters.  Health and 
safety and food; inspection, sampling, testing, investigation of infectious diseases and 
investigation of business premises for food hygiene and health and safety; operating 
accreditation schemes such as the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme to improve standards; 
licencing of a variety of animal and skin piercing activities.  Emergency Planning - 
engagement with key stakeholders to improve community resilience in managing and 
dealing with any emergency situation.  Private sector housing activity - improvement of 
unsafe housing through inspection and appropriate enforcement; continued engagement 
with landlords through landlord forums, newsletters and training events; provision of 
Disabled Facilities Grants and other Discretionary Grants to ensure people can remain safe 
and well in their homes; investigating all private sector house condition complaints, raising 
the awareness amongst landlords by providing appropriate training.

Community Services (CS): support and promote participation in sporting, artistic and 
cultural events and festivals; provision of cultural heritage and leisure facilities including 
leisure centres and museums; waste collection and recycling; engagement with the 
community and health partners on physical activity programmes and development of our 
natural environment and open spaces encouraging people to improve their health and well-
being through active participation in sport, art, leisure and heritage. 

Place Development (PD): ensuring health, welfare and safety through building control 
activity and ensuring appropriate standards of design and provision of open space in the 
consideration of planning applications

Financial Services (FS): flood resilience grants inspection; Property Services - maintain a 
safe environment through provision of footway lighting in rural areas; annual inspection of 
shoreline maintenance plans; ensuring the health and safety of Council owned buildings; 
assistance with flood resilience schemes and measures.

Governance (GOV): licensing of premises events and taxis to ensure standards of safety 
and community wellbeing; engagement with partners on community safety issues through 
the Community Safety Partnership.

Strategy, Policy and Performance (SPP): developing appropriate policy that takes health 
and wellbeing of communities into account; leading on the strategic health improvement 
agenda; working with key health stakeholders to drive policy agendas; key partner in the 
Health and Wellbeing Forum using intelligence to drive policy development and 
implementation; horizon scanning to ensure the organisation is identifying challenges and 
opportunities.

Page 47



What we are planning on doing:

The delivery of the following key activities and projects support delivery of our objectives for 
this Council Plan theme:

ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

 4.1 Support the Allerdale Health and 
Wellbeing Forum in addressing 
health  outcomes in relation to healthy 
weight, smoking cessation, healthy 
attitudes towards alcohol, mental 
wellbeing and ageing well 
Focus in 2018/19 on falls prevention, 
smoking and healthy weight

2018/19 Savings in 
wider health 
economy 
Bringing in 
funding to 
deliver 
initiatives within 
our 
communities

HH/ 
SPP

Housing, 
Health 
and  
Wellbeing

4.2 Support improvements to leisure 
facilities and open spaces in our 
communities to encourage active 
participation in physical activity and 
improve health outcomes 

March 2019 Reduced need 
to fund sport 
and leisure 
activities. 
Decreased 
expenditure in 
supporting 
people with 
health related 
illness

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

4.3 Promote and deliver a programme of 
activity to encourage health and 
active lifestyles including a walking 
and cycling scheme to develop a 
programme of free health walks and 
cycle rides across Allerdale.

March 2019 CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

4.4 Work with GLL to develop the leisure 
offer within the Council’s leisure 
facilities, increasing usage across all 
sites, with a focus on young people, 
people with a disability and those at 
risk of being inactive.  

March 2019 CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

4.5 Improve the provision of leisure 
and sporting facilities working with 
partners to support future 
development 

2018/19 CS/PD Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality / 
Economic 
Growth

4.6 Work with partners to look at different 
ways to encourage social 
prescribing of physical 
activity through the use of community 
facilities and leisure centres 

Introduce 
pilots in 
Workington 
and Wigton 
by March 
2019

Reduced spend 
on supporting 
people with 
health issues 

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

4.7 Support festivals and events 
through grants support and direct 
funding to enhance the vitality and 
raise the profile of the area and offer 

15 festivals 
and events 
through 
grant 

Increased 
investment 
income 

CS Tourism 
and 
Culture 

Page 48



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

cultural and sporting events to 
improve health and wellbeing

support by
March 2019

4.8 Deliver an environmental education 
and volunteering programme for 
schools, community groups and the 
general public to raise the profile of 
key environmental sites and to 
encourage citizenship and 
environmental awareness. 

25 events/ 
education 
days by 
March 
2019 

Reduction in 
environmental 
clean-up costs

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

4.9 Improve the environmental quality of 
our beaches through delivery of our 
Beach Management Plan and taking 
part in the LovemyBeach campaign.  
We intend to maintain a bathing water 
classification of “good" at Allonby. We 
will actively support and promote the 
"Call of Nature" campaign and support 
‘Turning Tides’.

2018/19 Reduction in 
environmental 
clean-up costs

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.10 Continue to work with developers and 
planning authorities to ensure that air 
quality impact assessments are 
carried out - our priority is to maintain 
good air quality within Allerdale and 
understand the potential impacts of 
proposed major developments 
individually and collectively on local 
air quality. 

2018/19

Maintain 
baseline 
monitoring 
at 11 key 
locations

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.11 Deliver the National Food Hygiene 
Rating Scheme and investigate 
options for the introduction of a new 
fees scheme for food safety 
interventions.

from April 
2018

Drive up food 
safety 
standards. 
Inspection fee 
income

HH Housing,
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.12 Introduce a new risk rated licensing 
programme for all animal licensing 
including performing animals

Based on 
legislation 
being 
introduced 
October 
2018 

Slightly reduced 
income likely. 
Impact to be 
reviewed.

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.13 Deliver activity in the Housing 
Strategy to raise standards in the 
private rented sector including:

 Implementation of new Housing 
Enforcement Policy 2018

 Ensure new legislation around 
the licensing of HMOS is 
enforced and all HMOs falling 
into the new licensing criteria are 
licensed. 

2017/21

May 2018 
onwards

October 
2018 
onwards 
Issue new 
HMO 
licenses

Possible 
income from 
fixed penalties 
(enforcement)

License fee 
income

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

Page 49



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

4.14 Deliver Housing Grants Assistance 
programme to help reduce 
admissions to hospital, need for 
transfer to residential home and 
delayed discharge from hospital, and 
to increase the number of decent 
homes in the Borough: 
 Promote and deliver Discretionary 

Grants (including Safe and Warm 
Grant) 

 Promote and deliver Disabled 
Facilities Grants 

April 2018 
onwards

Income from 
ABC fee (12%)

HH Housing,  
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.15 Undertake activity with partners to 
improve flooding resilience across 
Allerdale including:
 Delivering a funding programme 

for small to medium flood 
prevention work in our 
communities.

 Continue to support partner 
organisations especially the 
Environment Agency to access 
relevant funding to allow 
communities to become more 
resilient to flooding events

Allocate 
funding by 
March 2019

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

4.16 Work with partners as part of the 
West Cumbria Community Safety 
Partnership to address the priorities 
identified the CSP Strategic Plan

March 2019 GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

4.17 Undertake activity to improve how 
we support and promote the health 
and wellbeing of our staff including:

 Work to support mental health 
and wellbeing of staff 

 Gaining Silver in the Better 
Health at Work Award to 
demonstrate our commitment to 
promoting the health and 
wellbeing of our staff

Apr 2019 Reduction in 
sickness levels 
and improved 
productivity

GOV 
/SPP

Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources
/ Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

Page 50



Key Performance Indicators:

The following indicators are recognised as key to the management of performance in our 
services delivering against this Council Plan priority theme:

Indicator Target 2018/19 Service

Leisure centre and The Wave usage

Increase usage 
by:
1% - Keswick
2% - Cockermouth
10% - Workington
10% - Wave

CS

Workington Leisure Centre usage by target groups (low 
income, 60+ and juniors) 
(Figure to be split in reporting)

Increase usage in 
all areas by 2% 

CS

% of Disabled Facilities Grants approved within 10 weeks 
from receipt of referral to approval 85% HH

% of Discretionary Housing Grant Assistance approved 
within 12 weeks of first inspection date 85% HH

% of private water supplies sampled 100% HH

% of food safety inspections carried out (Category A-B) 100% HH

In addition to data on these indicators, services will also capture and report on a much 
wider range of indicators to effectively manage and monitor service delivery. 

Page 51



3.5 Creating a sustainable business

Creating a sustainable business
We aim to develop a commercially focused organisation committed to 
delivering high quality, sustainable services to the people, communities and 
businesses of Allerdale

In working towards this aim our focus will be on the following objectives:

 Providing great services for people and communities by having a better 
understanding of our costs, customers, businesses and our communities – their 
needs, priorities, and expectations; their behaviours and motivations; their 
circumstances and experiences; as well as their skills, resources and capabilities

 Getting the best value goods and services by improving our commissioning and 
procurement processes. 

 Thinking and acting more like a business by implementing the Asset 
Management Plan; seeking opportunities to increase our income, for example from 
our existing trading services.  

 Running an efficient and effective council by implementing more flexible and 
mobile working across the Council to improve efficiency and deliver savings; and 
delivering our ICT Strategy to provide more effective support services.  

 Developing our people by empowering staff to deliver differently, retrain where 
necessary, and use alternative models where appropriate to ensure that our services 
are delivered as efficiently as possible and maximising the generation of income 
which contributes towards the running costs of delivering services our customers 
want.

Outcomes:

We will know we are achieving our objectives if we see… 

 Increased satisfaction with council services

 An increase in the percentage of residents who believe the Council provides value 
for money

 An increase in the proportion of residents who feel they are kept informed about 
Council activities and services

 An increase in the number of residents who feel they can influence decisions

 Achievement of self-sufficiency targets

What we are doing (business as usual):

The following paragraphs describe our significant day to day service activity that contributes 
to achieving our objectives for this Council Plan theme:

Customer, Transformation and Commissioning (CTC): Customer Operations - providing 
access to information and services for customers, residents, visitors and businesses 
through a range of contact channels including on-line, telephone and face to face; providing 
excellent customer services; council tax and business rates and housing benefit 

Page 52



overpayment and billing, administration and collection. Procurement, Projects and 
Commissioning – programme management on major projects; business analysis; business 
case development; tendering and contract management advice and support; improving 
procurement and commissioning practices. ICT - supporting our business through 
technology to enable our staff to deliver services efficiently to our resident and customers 
across the district. 

Strategy, Policy and Performance: leading on corporate strategy and policy development; 
using intelligence to drive policy development and implementation; horizon scanning to 
ensure the organisation is identifying challenges and opportunities; strategic stakeholder 
management to drive policy agendas; providing Overview and Scrutiny function; voluntary 
and community sector liaison/support; information management and freedom of information 
requests. Communications and Marketing - providing marketing and communications 
services to keep residents, customers, businesses and partners updated on Council 
initiatives and managing the positive reputation of the authority.  

Governance (GOV): Legal and Audit - provision of legal, assurance risk and audit advice 
and guidance, ensuring the right skills and experience are in place to support the Council’s 
projects including consideration of different delivery models. Democratic Services - 
providing democratic services support through procedural advice at meetings, member 
support and development. Electoral Services - delivering successful elections. People 
Resources - providing advice and support to the organisation on people management; 
developing effective policies and procedures; developing appropriate training plans; leading 
organisational change; talent management and people development delivering learning 
programmes for employees/managers; supporting leadership teams/operational managers 
on people management/development; employee relations and consultation/negotiation with 
trade unions; employment handbook/policy development/contracts of employment; 
occupational health advice.  

Finance (FS): strategic financial planning ensuring optimal use of resources and strong 
financial control; accountancy support; pensions; capital programme; grants management; 
insurance services; managing and investing in all Council owned property assets; providing  
financial support to Members and service areas through a commercial and business 
partnering approach; working with the leadership team to ensure the S151 role is fulfilled. 

Housing and Health (HH): providing advice and guidance on all health and safety related 
issues that affect the business and individual personnel; provide suitable and sufficient 
policies and risk assessments; reduce absenteeism for work related issues and enhance 
the management of stress that may affect council employees. 

Place Development (PD): identifying opportunities to recover the costs of delivering the 
service by introducing charges for delivering discretionary elements of the planning and 
building control services e.g. pre-application planning advice; providing estates 
management advice and support to the organisation to ensure, maximum impact from 
assets and commerciality of the Council’s estate is progressed.

Community Services (CS): provision of a commercial trade waste and trade recycling 
service, along with measures to effectively maximise income through the collection, 
processing and sale of recyclates.  

Page 53



What we are planning on doing:

The delivery of the following key activities and projects support delivery of our objectives for 
this Council Plan theme:

ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

5.1 Deliver the Customer Access 
Strategy to improve the service we 
deliver to customers through 
improving service consistency, 
delivering right first time and 
improving the use of customer 
intelligence to develop and design the 
service. Promote self-service where 
appropriate to streamline processes 
between customer and the 
organisation.

2017/19 A mixture of 
improved 
service delivery 
and reduced 
expenditure 
through more 
efficient 
processes 

CTC Transform
-ation

5.2 Undertake a Channel shift 
programme to significantly increase 
the use of online and self-service 
channels with a focus for 2018/19 on 
promoting online billing

2017/20

100 
registrations 
for online 
billing per 
month

Overall 
reduction in 
CSC cost per 
transaction £50k 
over three years

CTC Transform
-ation

5.3 Continue programme of co-location 
of customer access points across 
the district into libraries/other 
appropriate locations. Costs 
associated with the moves to include 
branding, accommodation changes, 
advertising, ICT moves etc.

One 
additional 
co-located 
customer 
access 
point by 
March 
2019

£10k
One off cost 
2018/19

CTC Transform
-ation

5.4 Review our Revenues and Benefits 
Shared arrangements with Carlisle 
CC to ensure that future 
arrangements provide value for 
money

Review by 
May 2018
Revised 
arrangem
ents in 
place by 
Aug 2018

No additional 
costs

CTC Transform
-ation

5.5 Develop and begin delivery of a new 
Digital Strategy with a focus on 
Digital Customer Services, a Digitally 
enabled workforce, Digital Skills and 
Digital Citizens across Allerdale.
Developing a managed ICT services 
offer for organisations and businesses 
across the district
Review remaining shared ICT 
arrangements with Carlisle CC

Develop 
strategy 
by 
December 
2018

Dec 2018

Aug 2018

Overall 
reduction in 
costs £50k

CTC Transform
-ation

5.6 Deliver the Digital Allerdale project 
to improve digital access including:

 Town centre Wifi

Pilot 
scheme  
running by 
June 2018 

£7k CTC Transform
-ation 

Page 54



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

 Business broadband
 Developing the Internet of Things
 Developing the use of LoRaWAN

Further 
schemes 
developed 
by March 
2019

5.7 Implement new contracting 
arrangements for waste and 
recycling, recycling reprocessing, 
street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance 

Commen-
cement of 
new 
contracts 
by April 
2019

£1m saving 
target 

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

5.8 Increase trade waste customer 
base through gaining new contracting 
arrangements with businesses 

March 
2019

£30k income 
target

CS Locality 
and 
Environ-
mental 
Quality

5.9 Implement the new Capital Strategy 
to ensure that  investment will 
contribute to achievement of Council’s 
key objectives and priorities 

March 
2019

Investment 
supports 
Council’s 
priorities and 
key objectives

FS Corporate 
Resources

5.10 Implement the Asset Management 
Plan in order to maximise income for 
the Council including the development 
of new units at Reedlands Road

2017/19 Longer term 
generation of 
additional 
income

PD/ FS Economic 
Growth

5.11 Undertake an assessment of the 
impact of the changes to local 
government financing (the Fair 
Funding Review, the move to 75% 
retention of business rates and the 
reset of baselines in 2021) so that the 
Council can understand and plan for 
the implications in our Medium Term 
Financial Plan

2017/19 FS Corporate 
Resources

5.12 Undertake work with new Cumbria 
Business Rates Pool to ensure that 
the risk to Allerdale is minimised

2018/19 Contributes to 
ensuring 
maximum 
benefit from 
business rates 
income and 
growth

FS Corporate 
Resources

5.13 Roll out and embed an e learning 
platform to enable more training to be 
delivered supporting the Council’s 
strategic objectives 

Introduce 
by April 
2018
Embed by 
Oct 2018

GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

Page 55



ref Activity/Project Target 
timescale 
or 
measure

Expected 
financial 
impact

Service Portfolio

5.14 Develop a Training Strategy aligned 
to the Business Plan to prioritise 
where training will add most value and 
where collaborative approaches could 
be adopted to achieve value for 
money 

May 2018 More effective 
use of training 
budget

GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

5.15 Use the Apprenticeship Levy to 
maximise the opportunities that this 
brings to the organisation

Mar 2019 GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

5.16 Develop an Organisational 
Development Strategy to make best 
use of capacity and resources to 
achieve the growth and efficiency 
objectives of the Council including: 

 Undertaking a workforce planning 
project to look at new ways of 
unlocking the potential of our 
employees 

 Carrying out a strengths-based 
evaluation to improve productivity 
and performance

by Sep 
2018

by Dec 
2018

Strategy 
by Dec 
2018

Making best use 
of resources, 
creating a 
sustainable 
workforce, 
minimizing the 
need to use 
external 
consultants/interi
ms and reducing 
the cost of 
recruitment 
advertising

GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

5.17 Further embed the volunteering 
policy and analyse the impact/value 
that this is having in our communities.

Sep 2018 GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

5.18 Deliver a member development 
programme to support the Council in 
achieving its ambitions

Apr 2019 GOV Governan
ce and 
People 
Resources

5.19 Deliver programmes and initiatives 
to increase awareness of terrorism 
and train personnel on the 
requirements of the Prevent strategy 
as stated in the Government’s 
Counter Terrorism strategy CONTEST 

April 2018 
onwards

HH Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing

5.20 Implementation of web-based 
Arcus system in Housing and Health, 
Development Management, Building 
Control and Licensing

April 2018 
onwards

Reduction in 
printing costs
Ability for staff to 
work more 
effectively
Better 
performance 
monitoring

HH/PD Housing, 
Health 
and 
Wellbeing/
Economic 
Growth

Page 56



Key Performance Indicators:

The following indicators are recognised as key to the management of performance in our 
services delivering against this Council Plan priority theme:

Indicator Target 2018/19 Service
Levels of staff absence 7 days per employee GOV

% of workforce with zero absence 90% GOV

% of employees engaging with employee surveys 50% GOV 

Occupancy rates of Council’s property portfolio 90% PD

No. of customers registering to use the myAllerdale 
self-service system (Channel shift)

250 new registrations per 
month SPP

Average speed of answer on calls (the average time 
customers calling 03031231702 wait for calls to be 
answered) 

45 seconds CTC

Abandoned calls rate (% of inbound calls abandoned 
before being answered by an advisor) 7% CTC

Customer service satisfaction score
(Customers rating their interaction with Customer Service 
as good or very good)

80% good with a stretch 
target of 90%

CTC

Average website unique page views per day 3000 SPP

Facebook likes per day 2000 SPP

Twitter followers 6000 SPP

Average ICT Support calls logged per day 25 CTC
Percentage of ICT support calls resolved within 
SLA 87% CTC

Overall percentage of time systems available for 
use 99.9% CTC

NNDR collection rate 98.2% CTC

Council Tax collection rate 97.8% CTC

% invoices paid in 30 days 98% FS

Age of debt analysis

Improved payment of 
outstanding debt with 30 
days and reduction of 
aged debt

FS

% of household waste sent for recycling 41% CS 
Kg of household (per household) waste sent to 
landfill 520kg CS

In addition to data on these indicators services will also capture and report on a much wider 
range of indicators to effectively manage and monitor service delivery. 

Page 57



4. Delivering the Council Plan: Budget 
The following table outlines the indicative revenue budget for 2018/19.  Further detailed 
information regarding the Council’s financial resources can be found in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan.  

2018-19 Revenue Budget

2018-19
£000

Base Budget 11,932
Change in salary costs 135
Recurring growth 526
Recurring savings (676)
Self-sufficiency savings (422)
Recurring (base) budget 11,495
Non-recurring growth 1,102
Non-recurring savings (17)

12,580
Expenditure on earmarked priorities 1,066
Proposed Budget (excluding parish precepts) 13,646
Parish precepts 2,024
Proposed Budget (including parish precepts) 15,670
Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (1,066)
Net Budget Requirement 14,604

The Council’s net budget requirement is funded as follows:

2018-19 Revenue Funding 

2018-19
£000

Revenue support grant 652
Rural Services Delivery Grant 325
Other government grants (New Homes Bonus) 1,004
Council tax – excluding parish element 5,100
Council tax – parish element 2,024
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91
NNDR funding 5,528
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (564)
Use of /(contribution to) General fund Balances 444
Total funding 14,604

Page 58



Summary of 2018/19 Budget by Portfolio
Net

Portfolio 2018/19 Base 
Budget

Self 
Sufficiency 

Savings

Recurring 
Salary 

Adjustments
Recurring 

Growth
Recurring 
Savings

One-off 
Growth

One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Funded 
Projects 

Proposed 
Budget

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
REVENUE          

Leader of the Council 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 1,108,515
Economic Growth (995,143) (69,585) (144,540) 0 (244,679) 50,000 0 0 (1,403,947)
Corporate Resources 4,696,224 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 0 5,809,837
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 0 881,170
Locality & Environmental Quality 2,739,933 (124,359) (9,730) 303,889 (149,806) 15,000 0 0 2,774,927
Governance & People Resources 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 0 1,295,092
Tourism & Culture 370,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 (15,000) 0 0 0 351,465
Transformation 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 0 1,763,322

Revenue Sub Total 11,932,565 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 12,580,381

Parish Precepts 2,024,054 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,024,054

Total Revenue 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 14,604,435
          

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS          

Leader of the Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192,804 192,804
Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742
Corporate Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,915 118,915
Housing, Health & Well being 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 438,437 438,437
Locality & Commercial Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,695 62,695
Governance & People Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168,790 168,790
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098
Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,066,481 1,066,481

Total 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 1,066,481 15,670,916

P
age 59



5. Managing the Plan 

5.1 Business and service planning 
The Business Plan takes its direction from the Council Plan and is built around the Council’s 
core service ‘business as usual’ and ‘improvement’ activities and the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan which sets out the agreed budgets for each service area.

Both the Business Plan and the Medium Term Financial Plan are refreshed annually to take 
account national changes, changes in priorities locally and the Financial Settlement.  
Progress against the Business Plan is reported quarterly.

The Business Plan is supported by a series of strategies and action plans detailing what we 
will do to meet our objectives and giving more detailed information about service activities, 
as well as performance targets for each significant area of activity.  The Business Plan is 
agreed by the Executive.  Service activity is translated to individual work objectives through 
our appraisal process (What Great Looks Like).

These plans will ensure ‘end service’ provision is aligned to the Council Plan priorities and 
that all staff are able to understand how their service and their own performance 
contributes. This is central to the Council’s arrangements for ensuring it delivers the right 
services, and that delivery is in the most effective and efficient way possible.

5.2 Performance management and reporting 
On a monthly basis key performance, resource and risk data is presented to SMT for review 
and the identification of the actions required to deliver the agreed targets.

Key performance, resource and risk information is presented to Executive in the Quarterly 
Performance and Finance reports.  These reports are available on our website 
www.allerdale.gov.uk

5.3 Management of risk 
Consistent with the corporate and business planning arrangements, performance and risk 
are managed at different levels throughout the Council, depending on their significance and 
severity.

The Council has adopted arrangements that distinguish between the nature and 
management requirements of strategic corporate risks (long term, high level, slow moving 
risks) and the shorter term, more dynamic operational risks.  Corporate risks are reported 
monthly to SMT and quarterly by exception to Executive as part of the quarterly 
performance report.  A service risk register captures operational risks which are then 
managed by services as part of their ongoing management of performance, escalating any 
risks to the corporate risk register as appropriate.  

To support the need for continuous improvement the Council has adopted an Integrated 
Assurance Strategy to provide an integrated approach to how we provide assurance over 

Page 60

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


the management of risks to the achievement of the Council Plan 2015-19 objectives.  This 
approach brings together risk management, the three lines of defence and assurance 
reporting as a means of objective setting and achievement giving a valid and up to date 
picture of governance and assurance at Allerdale Borough Council.

Page 61



6. Acronyms
The following is a list of abbreviations contained in the Business Plan.  It is designed to be 
an ‘at a glance’ reference tool.

BEIS – Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

CLT – Community Land Trust

CSC – Customer Service Centre

CSP – Community Safety Partnership

DFG – Disabled Facilities Grant

DWP – Department for Work and Pensions

ECO – Energy Company Obligation

ERDF – European Regional Development Fund

EU – European Union

FSA – Financial Services Authority

HCA – Homes and Communities Agency

HHSRS – Housing Health and Safety Rating System

HMO – House in Multiple Occupation

ICT – Information and Communications Technology

LEP – Local Enterprise Partnership

LLP – Local Lettings Policy

NHB – New Homes Bonus

NHS – National Health Service

NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework

NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates

PLR - Property Level Resilience grants 

PWS – private water supply

RSL/RPs – Registered Social Landlord/Registered Providers

SLA – Service Level Agreement

SME – Small/Medium-sized Enterprise

SMT – Senior Management Team

UCLAN – University of Central Lancashire

VFM – Value for money

WCCU – West Cumbria Credit Union

Page 62



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 March 2018

Setting Equality Objectives 2018/19

The Reason for the Decision To agree a refreshed set of equality objectives in 
line with the Council’s statutory requirements to 
have these in place under the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. 

Summary of options considered 1. Executive may wish to approve the draft 
equality objectives as presented in the report. 

2. Executive may wish to approve the draft 
equality objectives subject to amendments 
being made.

Recommendations 1. That the equality objectives as set out a 
paragraph 3.6 are agreed.

2. That the Council’s equality objectives are 
reviewed again during 2018/19 alongside the 
development of the new Council Plan to 
ensure that in future our equality objectives are 
fully aligned to the Council Plan and council 
planning cycle. 

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no additional resource requirements 
requested arising directly from this report.

Legal / Governance Implications The renewal of the equality objectives is a 
statutory obligation and must be implemented.  
There are no further legal considerations, all legal 
issues and implications have been addressed 
within the detail of the report. 

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from this report.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The equality objectives will be delivered by 
service areas with relevant risks being managed 
on an operational level. At a corporate level the 
Council will manage the risk of not achieving its 
objectives.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The adoption of equality objectives allows the 
Council to demonstrate its commitment to equality 
and diversity.

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The proposed equality objectives fully align with 
the current Council Plan and will support 
achievement of the objectives set out in the 
Council Plan.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith 

Lead Officer Alex FitzGerald, Policy Manager (Corporate, 
Performance and Information) 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers:  None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Equality Act 2010 contains the Public Sector Equality Duty, the aim of 
which is to support good decision making by ensuring public bodies consider 
how different people will be affected by their activities so helping them to 
deliver policies and services that are efficient and effective, and meet different 
people's needs.

1.2 The Public Sector Equality Duty requires us to have due regard to the need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 advance equality of opportunity 
 foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and people who do not

1.3 The Equality Act sets out a number of ‘protected characteristics’, these are: 
 age 
 disability 
 gender reassignment 

Page 64

mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


 marriage and civil partnership (but only in respect of eliminating unlawful 
discrimination) 

 pregnancy and maternity 
 race 
 religion or belief 
 sex 
 sexual orientation

1.4 For a number of years, in considering equality issues, the Council has also 
recognised that for our area ‘rurality’ and ‘low income households’ are 
important characteristics that can seriously affect equality of opportunity and 
access to services for our residents. 

1.5 The Equality Duty is supported by specific duties which we, as a local 
authority have to meet.  Revised regulations were introduced in 2017 (The 
Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017) 
requiring us to:

 publish equality information at least annually relating to its employees 
and residents

 set and publish one or more equality objectives not later than 30 March 
2018 and at least every four years (unless up to date equality 
objectives are in place)

 publish gender pay gap information by 30 March 2018, and annually 
thereafter

1.6 The Council’s previous equality objectives are now out of date and are due for 
a refresh in line with the new regulation.  

2.0 Progress to date

2.1 The Council uses Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) to show how we 
consider equality issues in our strategic and service planning.  EIAs are 
undertaken on a proportionate basis where proposals have a potential impact 
on equality and diversity.  As stated above, alongside the ‘protected 
characteristics’, consideration of rurality and low income households is also 
included in the Council’s equality impact assessments given their importance 
for the district.  We also consider equality and diversity issues as part of 
reports that go to committee meetings to help inform the decisions being 
made.

2.2 The Council has also built equality and diversity considerations into the set of 
principles that inform our decision-making.  These principles are set out in the 
Corporate Business Plan and are as follows:

 Strong community leadership – demonstrating leadership within our 
communities is vital if we are to achieve our ambitions and we will 
continue to support the role of councillors in providing collective 

Page 65



community leadership and articulating the issues and priorities in their 
local areas. 

 Partnership and collaboration – whilst the Council does still deliver a 
range of services directly we recognise that only through collaborating 
with others will we achieve our ambitions for our area.   

 Clear priorities based on understanding and evidence – a sound 
evidence base is vital if the Council is to identify the right priorities and 
make sound decisions using our resources to the best effect.   

 Access and fairness - people have different requirements and 
preferences when it comes to how they access our services so we will 
make sure we take those into account when we design and deliver 
services.   

 Being flexible and responsive in the delivery of services that 
support local need - Allerdale is made up of distinct areas with 
differing issues and needs so we may need to adapt the way we deliver 
services across those areas depending on identified need. 

 Openness and transparency – we believe in the importance of being 
open and transparent in all that we do, providing the public with the 
information that they need to decide if we are performing well and 
responding to their needs.    

2.3 Progress against each of the Council’s previous equality objectives is given in 
the Equality Report and Needs Assessment at Appendix A.   

2.4 Other recent activity that demonstrates the Council’s commitment to equality 
and diversity includes:

 The recent refurbishment of the Customer Service Centre at Allerdale 
House has been undertaken to ensure not only improved physical 
access, but has also been designed with a dementia-friendly layout.  
The new confidential meeting rooms also ensure more privacy for 
customers who may need to discuss sensitive personal issues such as 
health or family circumstances.

 In the past two years we have introduced improved signposting and 
referrals for benefits customers who need additional money matters or 
other support – in particular a process has been developed in 
partnership with DWP to provide personal budgeting support for 
Universal Credit customers, ensuring that we offer support to 
households on low incomes and our more vulnerable residents.    

 The Council is working with Cumbria County Council on the Syrian 
refugee resettlement programme and have committed to welcoming 
refugee families to Allerdale.

 We continue to provide and use translation services as required to 
ensure that our customers can access the information they need, in 
particular in the work of customer services and our environmental 
health team.

Page 66



 Training has focused in 2017/18 on mental health issues.  A number of 
staff have been trained to become Dementia Friends (21 employees) 
with further training being offered to staff and elected members.  15 
employees have also been trained as mental health at work first aiders.  
The Council has also encouraged staff and members to participate in 
suicide awareness and prevention training and a number of people 
have now participated in this training.

 The Council has recognised Armed Forces and ex-Armed Forces 
personnel as a group within our community that face particular issues 
and has signed up to the Armed Forces Covenant. A regular weekly 
advice service provided by the Royal British Legion has been available 
in Allerdale House.  In 2016 we worked with partners to support 
delivery of a 14 unit Armed Forces accommodation scheme and during 
2017 we have supported an army officer in his transition from military to 
civilian life through practical work experience leading to the individual 
gaining full time employment. 

 Continued working with our partner organisations and the West 
Cumbria Safety Partnership to address community safety issues 
including tackling the causes of attacks motivated by race, religion, 
disability and gender or sexuality. 

 Successful delivery of the Central Heating Fund during 2017, a 
government funded scheme that has helped to install 77 first time 
central heating systems into fuel poor households in Allerdale, 
supporting some of our most vulnerable residents. 

 Successful delivery of our Housing Grants Assistance Programme 
including Disabled Facilities Grants and Safe and Warm Grants 
targeted at our more vulnerable residents (in particular our older 
residents and those with a disability). 

 Work to create more affordable housing in those areas where it is 
needed most and for those groups who need it most.  In 2016/17 we 
supported 43 affordable homes for general needs use and two extra 
care housing schemes providing 111 units of older persons’ 
accommodation.  An additional 46 affordable homes were provided in 
Keswick along with a toilet block conversion in partnership with the 
Keswick Community Housing Trust creating 4 single person dwellings.

 Engagement with the gypsy and traveller community to consider their 
temporary and long term ‘housing’ need

 Delivery of a range of arts and cultural activity aimed at addressing 
issues faced by particular groups of people including: 
o Supporting West Cumbria Carers Arts Summer School at Rosehill 

Theatre – a project working with young carers aged 5-18 to work 
with a visual artist, writer, storyteller, poet and theatre practitioner. 

o Supporting the first multi-organisation bid from the West Cumbria 
Cultural Education Partnership to Children and the Arts. The 
project will work with young people from disadvantaged 
backgrounds and local arts and heritage organisations.

Page 67



o Supporting Theatre by the Lake’s Celebrating Age Arts Council 
England bid a partnership project with Keswick Museum and 
Northern Fells Group aiming to reach around 700 participants 
over three years. The project aims to make cultural spaces be 
open, positive and welcoming places for older people and take 
high quality arts and culture into places where older people will 
find it easier to engage.   

 Work with our partner GLL to increase usage across all our leisure 
centres with a particular focus on young people and those at risk of 
being inactive including those with a disability and those aged over 60.   

 Continuing to be an active partner in the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing 
Forum – in the past year the Forum has appointed a Community Falls 
Worker and introduced a slipper exchange scheme targeted at our 
older people.  The Forum has also organised a series of mental health 
awareness training sessions and supported the creation of a number of 
local Dementia Action Alliances.  

3.0 Setting equality objectives 

3.1 The Equality Report and Needs Assessment at Appendix A sets out a 
summary of the latest available equality data and other relevant socio-
economic data that has been considered in developing the proposed new 
equality objectives.  

3.2 The data suggests that our key challenges are:

3.2.1 Ageing population - we have a ‘super ageing’ population which raises a 
number of issues for the area in terms of increasing demand for health 
services, issues with access to a variety of services, increasing incidences of 
age related illness such as dementia and potential increases in the numbers 
of people with a physical disability.  There are also related issues to do with 
the suitability of housing stock in the borough for that older population. 

3.2.2 Rurality - the rural nature of our area makes it harder for many people to 
access some services, this combined with other issues such as age (older 
people, as well as young people without their own transport), disability and 
low income, mean that locally or digitally accessible services are very 
important in our area.  

3.2.3 Low income households and poverty issues – Allerdale has some 
considerable areas of deprivation with seven areas in the 10% most deprived 
in England.  Being on a low income can affect people’s opportunities and 
access to services and can have related impacts on their health.  Lower 
income can affect the goods and services that people can afford and therefore 
affect their health and conversely poor health may affect income by 
preventing people from taking paid employment. Improving employment 
opportunities in Allerdale and tackling some of the barriers people face is 
therefore important for us.  Fuel poverty is a particular problem for vulnerable 

Page 68



residents including pensioners and people with disabilities or long-term health 
problems.

3.2.4 Children and young people - According to the latest figures 16.7% of 
Allerdale’s children are living in poverty and in four of our wards this figure 
rises above 25%.  Living in poverty will affect children’s life chances and their 
ability to access activities.  Childhood obesity rates can be seen to be 
increasing in Allerdale which is a concern.  We have also traditionally seen 
young people leaving the area after school for higher education or 
employment opportunities.  

3.2.5 Suitable housing – this is an issue for a number of groups within our 
community.  There is a need for suitable housing for older people, and for 
people with disabilities, as well as for increased availability of affordable 
housing to meet the needs of low income households and younger people in 
particular.  Some groups have very specific housing needs such as the gypsy 
and traveller community and ex-Armed Forces personnel. 

3.2.6 Limited availability of some data – the ethnic make-up of our borough being 
97.6% white British can make it difficult to get any meaningful data on the 
needs and views of those from other backgrounds.  Meaningful data on 
sexual orientation for our area and service users is also currently very limited. 
We need to ensure that we do not overlook the needs of these groups through 
lack of data and do what we can to get appropriate information from groups 
within the local community.  We can for example, continue to pool knowledge 
with partners such as through the Community Safety Partnership to ensure 
we are not missing any emerging issues around community tensions or hate 
crime.

3.3 The cycle for setting the Council’s equality objectives is not currently in line 
with the cycle for the development of the Council Plan and as such the 
Council’s previous equality objectives are not as aligned to the Council Plan 
as they could be.  

3.4 The proposal in this report is that we take this opportunity to adopt a new set 
of equality objectives now (to ensure we meet our obligations) that are better 
aligned to our current Council Plan and our other key policies and strategies, 
but that these are reviewed again during 2018/19 alongside the development 
of the new Council Plan to ensure that in future our equality objectives are 
fully aligned to the Council Plan and council planning cycle. This will ensure 
that the objectives are more fully integrated into our business planning 
processes.

3.5 The Council Plan already has a strong commitment to addressing issues of 
inequality and advancing equality of opportunity.  The proposed new equality 
objectives are drawn from our current Council Plan to fully align them with the 
Council’s current priorities.  

3.6 The proposed new Equality Objectives are:
1. Tackling poverty and helping those most in need

Page 69



2. Giving people skills, education and employment opportunities
3. Providing great services to people and communities 
4. Working to create healthier communities including activity to:

o Provide access to quality leisure and cultural activities
o Ensure access to suitable and safe housing

3.7 In support of each of these overarching objectives, the Council is already 
undertaking a range of activity. These actions are integrated in the Council’s 
Business Plan, Customer Access Strategy, Tackling Poverty Strategy, 
Housing Strategy, Business Growth Strategy and other key operational plans. 
Some examples of activity are given below for each objective.  Progress 
towards implementing these objectives will be monitored as part of the 
Council's corporate performance management arrangements.

3.8 The paragraphs below set out examples of activity that will take place to 
support each of the proposed equality objectives.

3.8.1 Objective 1: Tackling poverty and helping those most in need
Action will include:

• Support healthy eating/ food growing initiatives, supporting activities 
such as demonstrations and training sessions 

• Develop a scheme to provide meals for children eligible for free school 
meals during school holidays 

• Continue to invest in advice and advocacy services to support 
vulnerable people with financial issues and support disabled people to 
access benefits and understand welfare reform changes

• Promote benefits advice and undertake targeted campaigns to ensure 
residents, in particular pensioners, are claiming what they are entitled 
to

• Run the Big Allerdale Switch three times a year and target towards our 
deprived neighbourhoods and those on pre-payment metres

• Promote and deliver Safe and Warm Grants targeted at our older and 
more vulnerable residents

3.8.2 Objective 2: Giving people skills, education and employment 
opportunities
Action will include:

• Work with partners to ensure that there is a network of support for 
young people to enhance their employability 

• Monitor and support the implementation of ESF funded skills and 
training programmes to improve access to employment with focus on 
young people

• Work with local businesses and employment support/education 
providers to identify skill shortages or gaps alongside potential skill 
enhancement opportunities

Page 70



3.8.3 Objective 3: Providing great services to people and communities
Action will include:

• Deliver the Customer Access Strategy to improve the service we 
deliver to customers through improving service consistency, delivering 
right first time and improving the use of customer intelligence to 
develop and design the service. Promote self-service where 
appropriate to streamline processes between the customer and the 
organisation.

• Continue programme of co-location of customer access points across 
the district into libraries/other appropriate locations to ensure continued 
and improved access to our services locally. 

• Undertake work across the organisation to promote the use of available 
equality data and explore opportunities for improving the collection of 
equality data about our service users to further improve our approach 
to assessing equality impacts in our decision making and service 
planning.   

3.8.4 Objective 4: Working to create healthier communities
Action will include:

 Support the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum in addressing health 
outcomes in relation to healthy weight, smoking cessation, healthy 
attitudes towards alcohol, mental wellbeing and ageing well - with a 
focus in 2018/19 on falls prevention, smoking and healthy weight.

• Empower communities to deliver affordable housing through 
Community Land Trusts

• Support developers to provide a range of options to deliver affordable 
housing through Homes and Communities Agency schemes

• Proactive work with Registered Providers to evaluate allocations for 
housing to ensure there is a fair and transparent approach to support 
those in greatest housing need

• Promote and deliver Disabled Facilities Grants 
• Ensure new legislation around the licensing of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMOs) is enforced and all HMOs falling into the new 
licensing criteria are licensed.  

• Work with GLL to develop the leisure offer within the Council’s leisure 
facilities, increasing usage across all sites, with a focus on young 
people, people with a disability and those at risk of being inactive

• Supporting local festivals, cultural activities and events to encourage 
community belonging and wellbeing

3.9 To underpin delivery of these objectives and ensure a continued focus on 
equality and diversity issues the Council will continue to support and develop 
its staff and elected members.

3.10 During the early part of 2018 we will be rolling out a new e learning platform to 
enable more training to be delivered supporting the Council’s strategic 

Page 71



objectives.  One of the mandatory training packages will be equality and 
diversity and all staff and elected members will be asked to complete this. 

4.0 Consultation/Customer Focus

4.1 The Council consulted with a range of partners and stakeholders on the 
development of the Council Plan and these objectives are drawn directly from 
that Plan.  

5.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

5.1 This is addressed in the analysis of need and in objective 3 directly. 

6.0 Finance/Resource Implications

6.1 There are no additional resource requirements requested arising from this 
report.   It is considered that the recommendations within this report will be 
implemented within existing Council budgets.

7.0 Legal Implications and Risks

7.1 The renewal of the Equality Objectives is a statutory obligation and must be 
implemented.  There are no further legal considerations, all legal issues and 
implications have been addressed within the detail of the report.

8.0 Recommendations

8.1 That the draft equality objectives as set out a paragraph 3.6 are agreed.

8.2 That the Council’s equality objectives are reviewed again during 2018/19 
alongside the development of the new Council Plan to ensure that in future 
our equality objectives are fully aligned to the Council Plan and council 
planning cycle.

Alex FitzGerald
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information)

Page 72



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 1

Appendix A

Equality report and needs analysis

1. Summary of equality data 
This section outlines key data and information relating to Allerdale and the Council, 
and sets out the main trends and issues that cut across all services. The Council 
publishes a summary of equality data on its website which is updated annually, this 
includes data about the population and also an analysis of the Council’s workforce. 
From 2018 this will also include gender pay gap information as per the requirement 
set out in new regulations which came into force in 2017.

The paragraphs below set out summary changes and key issues relating to the 
population that need to be considered in planning and delivering the Council’s 
services.  

Age:  The numbers of 0-15 year olds fell in Allerdale between 2001-2011 (and 
across all of Cumbria’s districts), whilst the numbers of residents aged over 65 rose 
in Allerdale between 2001-2011 by 17% - a higher rate of increase than the national 
average (+11%)1.  Allerdale has also seen the greatest rise (between 2001 and 
2011) in the number of residents aged over 85 years in Cumbria.  
Traditionally we have seen many young people moving away after school for further 
education or employment elsewhere.  The 16-64 population increased slightly in 
Allerdale between 2001-2011. 
The latest figures (20182) show that the proportion of the Council’s workforce aged 
over 60 has risen slightly from 5.6% at March 2017 to 7.6% at March 2018.
So, Allerdale has an older population profile than England and Wales and the 
population is ‘ageing’ at a faster rate than the population nationally.  By 2037 33.3% 
of all residents are projected to be aged 65 and over3.  

Gender: The percentage of residents in Cumbria that are female is 50.8% and the 
percentage that are male is 49.2%1. Allerdale as a district has a very similar 
proportion of females (50.9%) and males (49.1%).  Latest workforce data for the 
Council (March 20182) shows that 65% of the Council’s workforce is female and 35% 
male.  Women are therefore over represented in the workforce compared to the 
county and borough populations.

Disability: Allerdale has slightly above average rates of disability. In the 2011 
Census residents were asked if their day-to-day activities were limited because of a 
health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 
months.  10.1% in Allerdale reported that their day-to-day activities were limited a lot, 
and 10.7% reported that their day-to-day activities we limited a little.  When 

1 Census 2011
2 Allerdale Borough Council workforce analysis, March 2018
3 ONS population projections

Page 73



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 2

compared to England & Wales, Allerdale has a slightly higher proportion of residents 
whose day-to-day activities are limited (Allerdale: 20.8%, England & Wales: 17.9%).
In terms of numbers, approximately 8,600 households in Allerdale (22%) have at 
least 1 member of the household with a limiting illness or disability4.

Migration: Between mid-2004 and mid-2014, internal migration (to and from other 
parts of the UK) and other changes (i.e. changes in prisoners, armed forces 
personnel etc.) accounted for a net increase of 2,400 persons in Allerdale, while 
international migration (to and from overseas) accounted for a net increase of 700 
persons5. Overall trends suggest that the rate of overseas migration to Allerdale and 
Cumbria has slowed in recent years.

Black and Minority Ethnic people: Cumbria’s BME population remains one of the 
lowest in England, but has grown from 1.8% to 3% from 2001-11. Allerdale has the 
smallest proportion (2.4%) of residents from BME groups in Cumbria and the second 
highest rate of White British residents of any district nationally (97.6%)4.  

Marital status: 28% of Allerdale's population is single (never been married) 
compared to 34.6% in England & Wales, 52% are married (46.6% in England & 
Wales) and 0.2% are part of a same-sex civil partnership (same as England & 
Wales)4.  The number of married residents in Allerdale has fallen slightly between 
2001 and 2011. 

Religion: 75.4% of Allerdale’s population stated their religion was Christianity 
(compared to 59.3% in England and Wales), with 17.3% stating that they had no 
religion.  Other religions accounted for less than 1% of the population of Allerdale, 
much lower than England and Wales (8.4%)4. 

The paragraphs above cover data relating to the protected characteristics defined in 
the Public Sector Equality Duty.  For a number of years though, in considering 
equality issues, the Council has also recognised that for our area ‘rurality’ and ‘low 
income households’ are important characteristics that can seriously affect equality of 
opportunity and access to services for our residents.

Rurality: Allerdale has a population of 75 people per square kilometre compared 
with the northwest average of 480.  Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature with 
69.8% of Allerdale’s population classed as living in rural areas. Over a half of people 
living in low income households in Allerdale live in rural areas.  Because many 
people live in sparse rural areas with sometimes poor transport links, this affects the 
accessibility of a range of services and opportunities such as further education, 
health services, jobs and leisure activities.  This is a particular issue for older people 
and young people, people with a disability and those on low incomes. 

Low income households: Overall Allerdale’s ranking in the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation is 115 out of 326 local authorities6.  However, this figure masks 

4 Census 2011
5 ONS
6 Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2015

Page 74



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 3

significant differences at a more local level with some considerable areas of 
deprivation.  There are seven areas in the 10% most deprived in England.  
Average household income in Allerdale is similar to the county average and a little 
below the national average; however, there are significant variations in income levels 
across wards from £17,000 to £37,400 and 14.4% of households with an annual 
income of less than £10,000 and this has risen from 8.7% in 20097.
16.7% of Allerdale’s children are living in poverty according to the latest figures 
(3,090 children)8.  The figures across the district vary considerably though, with four 
wards having levels of child poverty above 25%, the highest being 34.5%.
Nationally we know that 1.6 million (14%) pensioners in the UK live in poverty (that is 
with incomes below 60% of median household income after housing costs).  We also 
know that women are more likely to be in poverty than men, and older pensioners 
(especially those aged 85+), single people living alone and private tenants are at 
particular risk9. 14.6% of all households in Allerdale are lone pensioner households10.
Figures show that Allerdale has 5 Lower Super Output areas that fall into the worst 
20% nationally in terms of the Income Deprivation Affecting Older People measure11 
and that these are in the South Workington and parts of Maryport, correlating with 
the more deprived areas of Allerdale. 

2. Additional relevant socio-economic data
In addition to the data above the summary information below gives other socio 
economic data that has an impact on different groups within our population and has 
helped to shape our equality objectives.

Health and wellbeing: Allerdale’s overall performance in a range of health and 
wellbeing indicators disguises significant inequalities in health outcomes.  Looking 
across the district, life expectancy is 6.6 years lower for men and 8.1 years lower for 
women in the most deprived areas of Allerdale than in the least deprived areas.
Allerdale has an above average adult obesity rate and childhood obesity levels are 
slightly higher than the Cumbria and national averages. The percentage of children 
in Reception year who are classified as having excess weight has increased 
recently.  
Smoking and alcohol consumption are key areas of concern, Allerdale has the 
highest alcohol specific mortality rate of all the districts in Cumbria.
An increasingly ageing population raises a number of health issues for the area in 
terms of increasing demand for health services, issues with access to a variety of 

7 CACI Paycheck data, 2015
8 Department for Work and Pensions (Children in low-income families - local measure)
9 Households below average income: An analysis of the UK income distribution: 1994/95-2014/15 DWP, 2016
10 Census 2011
11 Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2015

Page 75



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 4

services, increasing incidences of age related illness such as dementia and potential 
increases in the numbers of people with a physical disability.

Housing: Levels of home ownership for the district are above the national average, 
although there are much lower levels in Workington and Maryport which also see the 
highest rates of social rented properties.  In line with the national picture Allerdale 
has seen an increase in private rented accommodation with the private rented sector 
proportion of housing stock rising from 9% in 2011 to 16% in 201612. 
Those on low incomes in the private rented sector lack the support network offered 
by landlords in the social rented sector and can be particularly vulnerable to income 
reduction potentially leading to homelessness.  Those on low incomes in the private 
rented sector can also be coping with substandard living conditions.  Recent 
research has shown that privately rented dwellings in Allerdale show higher rates of 
non-decency (29.2%) than those which are owner occupied (20.3%)12.
The median cost of a dwelling is nearly 5 times the median household income, but 
there is a huge variation across Allerdale in terms of affordability and some of our 
communities face significant affordability issues. The areas facing particularly 
marked affordability issues are Keswick and Cockermouth. A first time buyer in 
Keswick is likely to need over 12 times their income to match house prices. 
Affordable housing issues particularly affect those trying to get onto the housing 
market who may be younger, first time buyers.
Latest studies show that Allerdale does not have the right mix of housing to meet 
future demand and this applies across all tenures. Suitable housing options for our 
ageing population and for our more vulnerable residents is a particular concern.

Fuel poverty: 11.4% of households in Allerdale experience fuel poverty with wide 
variation across the district13.  Fuel poverty is a particular problem for vulnerable 
residents including pensioners and people with disabilities or long-term health 
problems. These groups of people are at risk of fuel poverty due to lower incomes 
and are more likely to spend long periods sitting at home which will increase their 
exposure to the cold if unable to heat their homes sufficiently. The rural nature of 
Allerdale further exacerbates the issue affecting fuel prices and mains gas access.  

12 Allerdale Housing Study 2016
13 Department of Energy and Climate change, 2016

Page 76



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 5

3. Progress against our equality objectives
The section below outlines progress against our previous equality objectives.

Objective: Reduce the effect of rural isolation by increasing the 
number of payment points available for Council services and 
increasing the number of services available online


Since 2014 residents and business owners in Allerdale have been able to pay their 
Council related bills at around 60 places in the borough hugely increasing the 
numbers of locally accessible places to pay (more than 10 times more places than 
previously) and helping to alleviate some access issues for our more rural 
residents. Payments can be made at any shop, business or post office accepting 
Paypoint payments.

The Council has also continued to make more services available online and in 2016 
introduced the MyAllerdale app allowing customers to carry out a much wider range 
of services online with the easy to use app.

Work with partners to develop an anti-poverty strategy that 
advances equality of opportunity between those who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not


Since 2012 the Council has been committed to tackling poverty in Allerdale with 
Reducing Poverty and Tackling Inequality being front and centre as priorities in the 
current and previous Council Plan.  The Council developed its first Reducing 
Poverty Strategy in 2013, developed and written with the contributions of partners 
with experience of working with the poverty agenda.  The strategy was ambitious 
and delivered many exciting projects.  The Strategy has recently been revised and 
a new Tackling Poverty Strategy adopted for 2018-2020.  Through delivery of the 
strategy to date the Council has:

 Taken a decision to pay the Living Wage to all employees and to work 
towards becoming a Living Wage employer and signed up the Fair Finance 
Pledge in 2016

 Supported advice and advocacy services with grant funding, including 
services specifically for those with a disability via Allerdale Disability 
Association

 Supported the Credit Union to promote financial resilience and support low 
income households

 Worked with partners in our more deprived on areas to deliver community 
projects aimed at getting people into work, and engaging with older and 
younger people to improve health and wellbeing.

 Run a Council apprenticeship scheme paying the Living Wage to those 
apprentices and supported external apprenticeships (10 supported in 2016).

 Supported skills and employment schemes and projects such as the Dream 
Scheme.

 Delivered services and support around housing to our most vulnerable 
residents such as Discretionary Housing Payments, homelessness support 
and preventative work, work to alleviate fuel poverty with the introduction of 

Page 77



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 6

the Allerdale Big Switch the Central Heating fund, delivery of Disabled 
Facilities Grants and the introduction of Safe and Warm Grants.

 Supported people in the transition to Universal Credit working with partners 
to provide appropriate budgeting advice and advocacy services to support 
those on low incomes.

Foster good relations by putting in place arrangements to actively 
facilitate and support festivals and events across West Cumbria to 
promote understanding amongst diverse communities and 
encouraging community cohesion


Over the past few years the Council has supported a range of festivals 
and events through grants support and direct funding.  These events and 
festivals range from small community events to large scale festivals and 
events.  Supporting these events and festivals helps to bring communities 
together as well as enhancing the vitality and raising the profile of the 
area, offering cultural and sporting opportunities to improve health and 
wellbeing.

Examples of events supported through our festivals and events fund over 
the past year include:

 Town Arts Trail Cockermouth and support for the establishment of 
West Cumbria Artistic Network (collective of professional and non-
professional artists from a range of genres) 

 Cockermouth River Lantern Parade and Finale Show 
 Keswick Victorian Fayre  
 Silloth Vintage Rally 
 Aspatria Music Festival 2017  
 Workington Kite Festival 
 Braithwaite Big Lunch  
 Keswick Band Night (as part of Keswick Mid-Summer Festival)  
 Vintage in the Town Workington 
 "The Beauty of Earth" visual arts exhibition in Wigton 
 Solfest 2017

Implement the Council Equality Scheme which ensures that all 
decisions consider the needs of protected groups in line with the 
Equality Act


The Council has continued to undertake Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) to 
ensure that decisions about policies, strategies and services consider the needs of 
protected groups.  EIAs are carried out on strategic documents and decisions.  
EIAs are also carried out for service changes or improvements where there is 
considered that there may be an impact on one or more equality group. Some 
examples are given below:
 Council Plan 2015-19
 Licensing Policy Review 2016
 Gambling policy review 2016

Page 78



$Y40ycmw3.Docx 7

 Business Growth Strategy 2016-21
 Housing Strategy 2016-21
 Tackling Poverty Strategy 2018-20
 Changes to fees and charges for car parking
 Introduction of new pay and display machines in car parks
 Decision to fund West Cumbria Credit Union to improve access to affordable 

loans

Ongoing work is required to ensure that EIAs are consistently and comprehensively 
undertaken in a timely manner across the organisation.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 March 2018

Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund (SIIF)

The Reason for the Decision To agree the process for the allocation of funds from the 
Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund which includes the 
creation of an Allerdale Loans Fund from April 2018 onwards. 
This will be reviewed subject to the decision of Sellafield 
Board to provide annually £500,000 each to Allerdale and 
Copeland for Socio-Economic activity.

Summary of options considered This report sets out the process for the allocation of funds 
from Sellafield. Members may choose to support the 
recommendations or otherwise.

The options considered were to (a) continue to administer the 
Fund as is (b) amend the current allocation process and 
administer the loan scheme ourselves or to (c) amend the 
current allocation process and use an accredited provider to 
manage the loans fund on behalf of Allerdale Borough 
Council. 

Recommendations 1. That Members agree to the allocation of funds from the 
£500,000 per annum Social Impact Investment Fund, 
which is provided by funding from Sellafield Ltd annually 
along the lines outlined below:
 A loans fund of £500,000 is proposed. Initially, this 

would be built up by contributions over 2 years of 
£250,000 - 2018/19 and 2019/20 - subject to 
funding provided annually by Sellafield. This would 
be topped up annually thereafter by up to £250,000, 
until external funding ceases, i.e. Sellafield Board 
decides not to award £500,000 each to the Council 
and Copeland Borough Council.

 £100,000 to support businesses up to three years of 
age with capital grants of up to £10,000 with 
decisions delegated to the Head of Strategy, Policy 
and Performance in consultation with the Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth, subject to 
funding provided annually by Sellafield.

 £150,000 to support the delivery of projects that 
support the delivery of the Council’s Business Growth 
Strategy with decisions delegated to the Corporate 
Director in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Growth subject to funding 
provided annually by Sellafield.

2. That Members agree to enter into a Legal Agreement 
with Enterprise Answers to administer the Loans Fund 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



on behalf of Allerdale Borough Council.

3. That Members delegate the finalisation of the Legal 
Agreement with Enterprise Answers to the Head of 
Governance and the Head of Strategy, Policy and 
Performance in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and the Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth.

Financial /  Resource Implications Subject to funding being secured from Sellafield, a total 
amount of £500,000 (£250,000 per annum) from the annual 
Social Impact Investment Fund provided to go towards a 
loans fund. 
The remaining £500,000 over the next two years: 
 £100,000 per annum as a grant scheme for businesses 

up to 3 years old.
 £150,000 per annum to undertake activity identified within 

the Business Growth Plan  

Legal / Governance Implications Legal issues are identified in the body of the report.

Any agreement reached with Enterprise Answers will require 
the appropriate legal contract to be in place to protect the 
Council in due course.

Advice has confirmed that the proposal regarding the loans 
fund, if approved, would be compliant with State Aid rules.

Community Safety Implications N/A

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications There is a risk that businesses could default on their loans – 

this will be managed by Enterprise Answers on the Council’s 
behalf through due diligence.  
There is also the risk that Enterprise Answers ceases to 
operate through dissolution, insolvency etc. Enterprise 
Answers is authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority (reference number 722385) and adheres 
to the Code of Practice laid down by its industry body the 
Community Development Finance Association. 
In the unlikely event that the business ceases, an alternative 
lender will be sought. 

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Enterprise Answers will ensure that loans are awarded 
equally. 

Page 82



Wards Affected All Allerdale Wards 

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

The proposed allocation contributes to the Council’s priorities 
for Economic Growth. In addition, it could contribute to 
creating a sustainable business through securing additional 
NNDR receipts. 

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith and Councillor Mark Fryer

Lead Officer Andrea Hines Policy Manager (Economic Growth)
01900 702771 andrea.hines@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Board of Sellafield Ltd agreed, in April 2014, to allocate up to £1,000,000 per 
annum of funding for use by Allerdale Borough Council and Copeland Borough 
Council to support projects, initiatives and programmes of work that deliver social 
conditions for growth through Britain’s Energy Coast. In Allerdale, the fund was 
known as the Social Investment Fund. 

1.2 In January 2017, the Council was informed that the funding would come direct from 
Sellafield from April 2017 onwards. The general requirements of the fund remained 
the same, other than the allocation of monies must now be in line with the objectives 
of the Sellafield Socio Economic Strategy and Energy Act, in addition to the Council’s 
own priorities as set out in the Council Plan.

1.3 In discussions with Sellafield for the, now renamed, Social Impact Investment Fund 
(SIIF) for 2017-18, it was agreed that a figure of £400,000 could be available to 
support businesses and £100,000 for social infrastructure projects, with the option to 
vire underspend in one to support over subscription in the other. 

1.4 Since its inception in 2014, up to the end of last financial year, the funding from 
Sellafield has supported economic growth and achieved the Council’s objectives by 
assisting 23 businesses across Allerdale, awarding a total of £1,191,182, which was 
match funded by these businesses to a total of £2,694,711. This investment will have 
created or safeguarded 283 jobs at completion. Two organisations that provide 

Page 83

mailto:andrea.hines@allerdale.gov.uk


advice and guidance to new businesses have been awarded £195,000 as part of 
wider funded programmes. Twelve voluntary and community organisations received 
£292,395 to fund a variety of activity, and have contributed £346,811 match.

1.5 Within the current programme the allocation of funds is delegated to the Corporate 
Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth.

1.6 The purpose of this report is to agree the process by which this Council allocates 
monies from the Social Impact Investment Fund for 2018-19 onwards. The proposals 
have already been accepted by Sellafield Ltd. 

2.0 The Distribution of Funds 2018-19

2.1      Discussions for the new financial year to distribute the full £500,000 allocated by 
Sellafield Ltd. have centred on creating a loan scheme, with half of the annual 
allocation, to provide businesses with the opportunity for long term investment whilst 
creating a long term investment fund for businesses in Allerdale. The proposal is to 
create a legacy fund in the event that Sellafield Ltd Board decides to no longer award 
the Council and Copeland Council £500,000 each for socio-economic activity. The 
advantage of a loans fund compared with a grant scheme is that it would enable the 
Council to continue to help businesses grow for the lifetime of an evergreen fund, 
from a starting position of £500,000, to which will be added interest on loans made -
therefore growing the fund for further loans to be made. Once a grant is awarded it is 
gone and cannot be used to assist other businesses.

2.2      It is proposed that businesses up to 3 years old will still be able to access a grant with 
a smaller proportion of the £500,000, and the Council will be able to undertake 
activity identified in its Business growth Plan.

2.3 The SIIF provides an opportunity for the Council to respond in a flexible manner to 
support employment and economic growth in the Borough, and to respond quickly to 
opportunities for, or threats to, local employers or encourage investment in Allerdale.

2.4      At a future point in time the Council can decide to close the loans fund and the initial 
loan value plus interest after charges will return to the Council for economic growth 
activity.

2.5 Options Appraisal

2.5.1 The Council is keen to develop a long-term investment fund that can support 
businesses with their investment requirements for many years to come. It was 
therefore not considered appropriate to continue distributing the funds in line with 
current processes, which whilst successful is dependent of the longevity of the 
funding from Sellafield LTD. It was therefore felt appropriate to revise the way in 
which funding in future years is utilised. 

2.5.2 The Council did consider the management of the loans scheme in house, however 
the Council is not currently legally and financially set up to provide loans. An 
appropriate accredited organisation that already provides loans in the County was 
therefore sought. Organisations, other than Enterprise Answers, that provide regional 
and national loans were approached, however they considered the size of the fund 
and loans to be made too small scale for their consideration. 

Page 84



2.5.3 Enterprise Answers has professional expertise for longer-term investment models, 
and the necessary accreditation with lending institutes. Enterprise Answers operates 
loan schemes on behalf of other Local Authorities and Government Organisations – 
including British Business Bank, and European Investment Bank to make loans for 
the Enterprise Finance Guarantee, Leader Loan Start Up loans and Northern 
Powerhouse Investment Fund, as well as being Cumbria’s only CDFI. It is therefore 
proposed that they provide the best option for the delivery of the Loans scheme. 

3.0 Allerdale Loans Fund

3.1    It is proposed that a sum of £250,000 of the £500,000 annual allocation from 
Sellafield Ltd be allocated in 2018-19 and 2019-20 to create a £500,000 Loans Fund 
for businesses in Allerdale. Businesses will be able to borrow between £10,000 and 
£75,000 at an interest rate of between 6% and 12% depending on the riskiness of the 
venture for a period of up to 8 years, determined by the organisation managing the 
loans fund on our behalf, with its many years of experience in providing loans.

3.2      The loans fund is an alternative to commercial High Street banks, and therefore 
Commercial banks were not considered to manage this scheme. Other non-local 
providers were considered, but were not interested in the small scale nature of this 
scheme. Enterprise Answers is the provider at this level for regional and national 
schemes provided by Government, British Business Bank, and European Investment 
Bank to make loans for the Enterprise Finance Guarantee, Leader Loan Start Up 
loans and Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund. Enterprise Answers also manages 
Eden District Councils loans fund.

3.3    Discussions have been held with Eden District Council as part of the Due Diligence 
Process. Enterprise Answers has operated a loan scheme on behalf of Eden District 
Council since 2015. As part of the Due Diligence process, the Council has also 
sought to ensure Enterprise Answers has the relevant lending accreditation.

3.4 It is recommended that the Council enter into a Legal Agreement with Enterprise 
Answers to manage the Fund on behalf of the Council. Enterprise Answers will 
manage all applications, appraisals and investment decisions. The Council will have 
no significant input into the administration of the fund and that this would be carried 
out by experts already employed by Enterprise Answers. This process is similar to 
that which Enterprise Answers operates on behalf of Eden District Council. 

The benefit of entering into such an agreement is that the Council is not registered as 
a lender. Enterprise Answers, the trading name of Cumbria Community Asset & 
Reinvestment Trust Limited, is an accredited lender with British Business Bank and 
provides loans and support to businesses that are unable to raise the finance they 
require from High Street Banks – Enterprise Answers is Cumbria’s only Community 
Development Finance Institution (CDFI) and the only rural CDFI in the north of 
England and has been making loans since 2005.
 The Council will transfer funds to Enterprise Answers, which will then provide 

loans to businesses. Enterprise Answers has many years of experience in this 
capacity and will be responsible for due diligence and other requirements. 
Enterprise Answers  will charge 2% arrangement fee and an annual monitoring 
fee of 0.5% or minimum of £250 per loan awarded. 

 In the event of a default, Enterprise Answers will be responsible for recovery. 
Any costs associated for debt recovery will be met from unallocated funding in 
the loans fund including repayments, or interest on existing loans that has also 
been repaid. There will be no recourse to the Council 

Page 85



 There is also the possibility to vire unspent funding from the Small Grants 
Programme for Fledgling Businesses or the Business Growth Strategy. In future 
years, subject to annual allocation from Sellafield, there will be £250,000 
available for top up of the loans fund or to cover defaults and associated costs as 
required. The loans fund would bear any loss associated with default, in that that 
amount would not be available for loan to other businesses.

3.5      The Loans Fund will be available to any viable business entity that is based or 
operating from within the Borough of Allerdale which:
(i) employs no more than 200 employees; and
(ii) can demonstrate future growth potential over a three year period; and
(iii) can create new employment or safeguard existing employment if at risk; and
(iv) has not been able to gain in full or part, finance from other loan providers

3.6      Monthly monitoring information submitted to the Council by Enterprise Answers will 
form the basis for performance reviews.  Monitoring information will report on 
enquiries, applications and loans made – and repayments when due, as well as 
progress in achieving jobs created and safeguarded outputs and specific-to-the-
application outcomes such as redundant buildings brought back into re-use. 

An annual performance review will be held and Enterprise Answers will provide an 
annual statement covering the year to 31st March for each year of the Term.  
Enterprise Answers will use best business and commercial lending practice in 
assessing the viability of applicants for a loan from the Fund and in reaching an 
appropriate conclusion before any loan is offered, and will be responsible for State 
Aid compliance, due diligence and all aspects of ensuring that applicants are in a 
position to take on and repay loans, flexing the rate of interest depending on the risk 
level of the application. Details of grants awarded from funding provided to the 
Council since 2014 will be made available to Enterprise Answers.. Should any 
applicant for any reason default on repayments, Enterprise Answers will seek 
repayment through proper legal process – this will be funded through the loans fund 
interest.

3.7 Investment criteria will remain consistent with current agreed principles, in that 
businesses must be based within Allerdale or the project activity be wholly 
operational within the District. Nationals and multi-nationals are ineligible for funding.

3.8 Any decision to allocate funds from the SIIF should be considered on the basis of a 
‘business case’ which demonstrates how the project or initiative aligns with the 
Sellafield Socio Economic Strategy and the Council’s Business Growth Strategy. The 
business case will set out the SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, 
Time-bound) outputs and outcomes to be achieved. Sellafield Ltd has agreed to the 
proposals detailed in this report for use of the £500,000 it awards on an annual basis.

3.9 Repayments and interest will be returned to the Loans Fund, to be further lent out to 
businesses – this will create a sustainable evergreen fund for the long term benefit of 
businesses in Allerdale. It is recognised that once the initial allocation of funding is 
lent out there may be a period of time where there is no funding, until loan repayment 
and interest return to the fund. Should the loan fund prove to be in more demand 
than the grant scheme (or vice versa), there is the option to vire some of the 
allocation across to satisfy the extra demand or to cover costs associated with 
default.

3.10 The Council has considered State Aid implications as part of the Due Diligence 
process. The independent advice suggest there are no State Aid implications as the 

Page 86



organisations that will be getting the benefit of the funding are those end-user 
businesses who will be receiving the loans. Enterprise Answers will not have any 
beneficial entitlement to the money as it will be ring-fenced for the exclusive use of 
the Allerdale Social Investment Impact Fund and cannot be used in their other funds 
or work projects.

4.0      Small Grants Programme for Fledgling Businesses 

4.1    It is proposed that from 2018/19 onwards, £100,000 of the £500,000 from Sellafield 
Ltd be made available for new businesses or fledgling (up to 3 years old) per annum, 
in the form of a grant for up to £10,000 to be spent on capital expenditure. This will 
continue to be administered by the Council.

4.2      Applicants will be required to complete an application form outlining their request that 
will be appraised for eligibility by Council officers. The eligibility criteria will remain the 
same as in previous years and the primary outputs sought from the scheme will be 
jobs created and jobs safeguarded.

4.3 Decisions on funding will be made by the Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Growth. 

5.0 Business Growth Strategy

5.1 It is recommended that the Council agree to allocate a sum of £150,000 of the 
£500,000 from Sellafield Ltd to support the delivery of projects that contribute to the 
delivery of the Council’s Business Growth Strategy.

5.2 The Business Growth Strategy outlines the Council’s approach to strengthening the 
local economy and seeks to create the right conditions for business growth. The 
strategy identifies that in order to create a strong local economy the Council should 
focus on strengthening a number of areas. These include:

 Improving town centres
 Improving the livability of the area
 Improving employment opportunities
 Improving the conditions for business growth
 Supporting the manufacturing and tourism sectors

5.3 Projects will be required to complete an application form outlining the contribution to 
the above themes and expected outputs and outcomes. It is recommended that 
decisions on this funding programme be delegated to the Corporate Director in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 
to ensure alignment with the Business Growth Strategy. This will also follow the 
process of Capital Investment Strategy.

6.0 Recommendations

1. That Members agree to the allocation of funds from the Social Impact 
Investment Fund along the lines outlined below:
o A loans fund of £500,000 is proposed. Initially, this would be built up by 

contributions over 2 years of £250,000 - 2018/19 and 2019/20 - subject to 
funding provided annually by Sellafield. This would be topped up annually 
thereafter by up to £250,000 – subject to continued demand and 

Page 87



performance of the fund, until external funding ceases, i.e. Sellafield Board 
decides not to award £500,000 each to the Council and Copeland Borough 
Council.

o £100,000 to support businesses up to three years of age with capital 
grants of up to £10,000 with decisions delegated to the Head of Strategy, 
Policy and Performance in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Growth, subject to funding provided annually by 
Sellafield. .

o £150,000 to support the delivery of projects that support the delivery of the 
Council’s Business Growth Strategy with decisions delegated to the 
Corporate Director in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth subject to funding provided annually by Sellafield.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1 The Social Investment Fund has made a significant contribution to the economic 
success of the Borough in recent years supporting the creation of employment. This 
proposal for the allocation of funding from April 2018 onwards will build on that 
success and ensure that the Council supports those businesses with the potential to 
grow whilst creating the right environment for general business growth.

Andrea Hines
Policy Manager (Economic Growth)

Page 88



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive - 21 March 2018

Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration

The Reason for the Decision:  To demonstrate our individual 
commitment and by working with the 
other local authorities and our partners to 
improve healthy weight within our 
communities and thereby improving lives.

Summary of options considered: Alternative is not to sign.

Recommendations: 1. That the Executive agree to the 
signing up to the Cumbria Healthy 
Weight Declaration. 

2. That the Leader and Chief 
Executive signs on behalf of 
Allerdale Borough Council.

Financial /  Resource Implications:     Officer time of developing work streams 
to support the declaration.

Legal / Governance Implications. None

Community Safety Implications: None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management : Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

No

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Health Improvement and Inequalities

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Lead Officer Graeme Wilson
Head of Housing & Health
phone number
graeme.wilson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership Y

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers: Public Health Outcome Framework. PHE.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Healthy Weight Declaration is a ‘Food Active’ initiative.  Food Active is a 
task group of the North West Directors of Public Health that launched a 
collaborative campaign in November 2013 to help tackle the rising obesity 
levels in the North West.  Food Active is a task group established to: examine 
public perceptions and support for policy interventions; develop research and 
research partnerships; produce briefings and communications; build and 
strengthen partnership working across the North West.

1.2 The Healthy Weight Declaration is a statement of intent for a local authority to 
put obesity reduction and promotion of healthy options at the heart of its 
policies and activities.  This provides an opportunity for departments, and 
authority partners, to work together towards a common goal.  There are many 
areas of service provided at county and district level where this approach is 
appropriate, from highways infrastructure and providing safe routes for 
walking and cycling, to planning where authorities have the power to prevent 
the proliferation of fast food outlets in any one area.

1.3 Following a presentation at the March 2017 Public Health Alliance from Public 
Health England and Blackpool Council, at the request of the Public Health 
Alliance work has been ongoing to progress the joint Healthy Weight 
Declaration for Cumbria. 

1.4 The Benefits of the Healthy Weight Declaration

1.5 International studies suggest that healthcare contributes just 10% to reducing 
premature deaths, whilst behavioural changes can contribute up to 40%.  
Factors including smoking, drinking, poor diet and insufficient physical activity 
are associated with the prevalence of conditions such as obesity, Type 2 
diabetes, some cancers and cardiovascular disease.

1.6 Tackling obesity needs a ‘whole systems’ approach. In Blackpool, the 
Declaration has enabled colleagues to work together, across departments, to 
devise innovative ways of tackling obesity through influencing policy and 
fostering cultural and behavioural change for employees and the wider 

Page 90



community. Blackpool Council has found that, working across departments 
has provided a great opportunity to build healthy weight considerations into its 
policies and services.  

1.7 The proposal was taken to the Cumbria Leaders’ Board at their June 2017 
meeting, where there was unanimous support for the project and a recognition 
that this would help to support and build on existing activities and initiatives 
across Cumbria’s local authorities.

1.8 Representatives from District and County Councils have since been working 
together   to develop the Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration, based on the 
one adopted by Blackpool but adapted for Cumbria.

1.9 Appendix 1 details the Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration

2.0 Healthy weight in Cumbria

2.1 In Cumbria obesity in adults has risen sharply in the 1990s and early 2000s 
with rates in Cumbria nearly trebling in 20 years.  The proportion of 
overweight adults in Cumbria is higher than the average for England and is 
one of the highest in the North West.  There are a higher proportion of adults 
in Cumbria who are classed as inactive, which means not participating in 30 
minutes of physical activity per week.

2.2 In Allerdale in 2015/16 the percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as 
overweight or obese was 66.7% (England average 61.3%). The percentage of 
adults (19+) that are physical inactive is 17.2% which is better than the 
England average of 22.3%.

2.3  In Cumbria the situation for children is in 2016/17 that the level of overweight 
(including obese) children at reception age was worse than the England 
average in 4 of the 6 Cumbrian Districts including Allerdale and for children in 
year 6, two of the districts were worse than the England average, not including 
Allerdale.

2.4 In Allerdale, in the period 2016/17 the level of overweight (including obese) 
children at reception age (4-5) years was 28.1% compared to an England 
average of 22.6% and for children in year 6 (10-11 years) was 34.1% 
compared to an England Average of 34.2%. This data is taken from the 
National Child Measurement Programme.

2.5 The Public Health Alliance members felt that when they considered the figures 
for Cumbria as a whole that these figures provided a good incentive to tackle 
obesity and weight before this continues to impact on future generations in 
Cumbria.

Page 91



3.0 The Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration

3.1 By working in partnership The Declaration is “a commitment is for each of the 
local authorities to reduce unhealthy weight within our communities, protect 
the health and wellbeing of staff and public and make an economic impact on 
the local economy by …” The declaration details 14 areas of work. 

3.2 Focus will be on children (0-5); children and families (0-19), health 
inequalities; creating healthier environments; adult healthy weight; workplace 
and Better Health at Work.

3.3 Each District Council and County Council’s Leader and Chief Executive are 
asked to sign up to the declaration on behalf of their respective authority. The 
declaration will carry each Council’s logo.

3.4 Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum will use the commitments as a 
foundation to help develop an action plan to support the declaration.

4.0 Customer Satisfaction and Service

4.1      The Public Health Alliance will monitor the long term effectiveness of the work 
to support the declaration across the County. 

4.2      The Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum will monitor outputs and outcomes.

4.3  Allerdale Borough Council will monitor outputs and outcomes.
  

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 Officers time will be spent working with others internally and externally to the                       
organisation to develop our work in support of this commitment. Going forward 
some areas may require funding which would have to be sourced and funders 
identified.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 There are no legal considerations in relation to signing the Cumbria Healthy 
Weight Declaration

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the Executive agree to the signing up to the Cumbria Healthy Weight 
Declaration. 

7.2 That the Leader and Chief Executive signs on behalf of Allerdale Borough 
Council.

Page 92



8.0 Conclusion

8.1      Maintaining a healthy weight is one of the key priorities of the Allerdale Health 
and Wellbeing Forum and the district authorities have an important role in a 
whole systems approach for example through planning policy, its leisure 
function, provision of open spaces and as an employer. Signing up to the 
declaration along with the other local authorities provides a framework within 
Cumbria to work together along with our partners and communities to develop 
policies, systems and approaches which support this aim.

Graeme Wilson
Head of Housing and Health

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



LO
CAL 

GOVE
RNMENT  

DECLARAT
IO

N O
N  

HEALT
HY W

EIG
HT 

 THIS LOCAL GOVERNMENT DECLARATION 
ON HEALTHY WEIGHT IS A STATEMENT, INDIVIDUALLY 
OWNED BY ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL, 
BARROW BOROUGH COUNCIL, 
CARLISLE CITY COUNCIL, 
COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL, 
CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL, 
EDEN DISTRICT COUNCIL AND 
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

It encapsulates a vision to promote healthy weight and 
improve the health and well-being of the local population. 
We recognise that we need to exercise our  responsibility 
in developing and implementing policies which promote 
healthy weight.

This Declaration was passed by:  Name here  | On:  Date here

Leader of  
Council

Chief
Executive

Director of 
Public Health

childrensfood.org.uk

Page 95



WE ACKNOWLEDGE 
THAT:

AS LOCAL LEADERS IN 
PUBLIC HEALTH WE 
WELCOME THE: 

>  Unhealthy weight has substantial long term well-being, 
economic and social costs;

>  Unhealthy weight is affected by health inequalities and is 
more common in lower socio-economic groups; 

>  Poor diet during early life (the period between conception 
and weaning) can carry adverse health consequences in 
later life;

>  Poor diet and an unhealthy weight are risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease, cancer and type 2 diabetes which 
contribute powerfully to poor health and premature death;

>  Energy dense food and drinks high in fat and sugar and low 
in essential nutrients contribute to a significant amount of 
additional and unnecessary calories in the diet;

>  There is greater availability and access to foods and drinks 
high in fat, sugar and salt which are increasingly eaten 
outside of the home, contributing to excess energy intake;

>  Increased intake of foods high in fat and sugar and low in 
fruit and vegetables are strongly linked to those in manual 
occupations;

>  People living in more socially deprived areas have less 
access to healthy foods;

>  Advertising and marketing of foods and drinks high in fat, 
sugar and salt increases their consumption;

>  Education, information and the increased availability of 
healthy alternatives help individuals to make healthy, 
informed food and drink choices;

>  Modern physical activity environments contribute to 
sedentary lifestyles;

>  Urban planning can have a significant impact on 
opportunities for physical activity, promoting safer 
environments for walking, cycling and recreation.

>  Opportunity for local government to lead local action 
to prevent obesity, securing the health and well-being 
of our residents whilst considering available social, 
environmental and financial NHS and social care 
resources;

>  Opportunity to protect some of the most vulnerable 
in society by giving children the best start in life 
and enabling all children, young people and adults 
to maximise their capabilities and make informed 
choices;

> National commitment to address childhood obesity;

>  Support for the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy 
Weight from the following organisations: Association of 
Directors of Public Health North West, British Dental 
Association, Children’s Food Campaign and the UK 
Health Forum.

Page 96



> Engage with the local food and drink sector [retailers,  
 manufacturers, caterers, out of home settings] where  
 appropriate to consider responsible retailing [such   
 as not selling energy drinks to under 18s] offering and  
 promoting healthier food and drink options and   
 reformulating and reducing the portion sizes of high fat,  
 sugar and salt [HFSS] products;

> Consider how commercial procurement partnerships  
 with the food and drink industry may impact on the   
 messages communicated around healthy weight to our  
 local communities;

> Review provision in all our public buildings, facilities   
 and via providers to make healthy foods and drinks more  
 available, convenient and affordable and limit access to  
 high-calorie, low-nutrient foods and drinks [this should  
 be promoted to public institutions such as schools,   
 hospitals, care homes and leisure facilities where   
 possible] through partnership working;

> Increase public access to fresh drinking water on local  
 authority controlled sites;

> Consider supplementary guidance for hot food   
 takeaways, specifically in areas around schools, parks  
 and where access to healthier alternatives are limited;

> Promote plans with our partners including the NHS and  
 all agencies represented on the Health    
 and Well-being Board, Healthy Cities, academic   
 institutions and local communities to address the causes  
 and impacts of obesity;

> Protect our children from inappropriate marketing by the  
 food and drink industry such as advertising and   
 marketing in close proximity to schools and at events on  
 local authority controlled sites;

> Support action at a national level to help local authorities  
 reduce obesity prevalence and health inequalities in our  
 communities;

> Ensure food and drinks provided at public events include  
 healthy provisions, supporting food retailers to deliver  
 this offer;

> Support the health and wellbeing of local authority staff  
 and increase knowledge and understanding of unhealthy  
 weight to create a culture and ethos that normalises   
 healthy weight;

> Promote health literacy of the local population to make  
 informed healthier choices;

> Ensure clear and comprehensive healthy eating   
 messages are consistent with government guidelines  
 using existing resources, available on the Public Health  
 England website;

> Consider how strategies, plans and infrastructures for  
 regeneration and all aspects of planning positively impact  
 on wellbeing;

> The Cumbria Public Health Alliance monitors the   
 progress of our plans against our commitments and   
 public results;

> Demonstrate a willingness and agreement to work   
 collaboratively and share good practice.

WE COMMIT OUR COUNCIL FROM THIS DATE

00.00.0000

Cumbria’s Local Authorities hereby sign the Declaration to show their 
commitment to reducing unhealthy weight in our communities, protect 
the health and wellbeing of staff and public and make an economic 
impact on the local economy by striving to:

Page 97



Signatories:

Allerdale Borough Council Barrow Borough Council  Carlisle City Council Copeland

 

Borough Council Cumbria County Council  Eden District Council

South Lakeland District Council  Director of Public Health

IN ADDITION OUR LOCAL AUTHORITY  
WILL WORK TOWARDS:………..

To be reviewed by...

The Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight has been 
designed and developed on behalf of Food Active, by the 
Health Equalities Group and is based on the the Local Authority 
Declaration on Tobacco Control.

For further information please contact: info@hegroup.org.uk

In Cumbria we will be working in partnership to focus on:

• Children [0-5];

• Children and Families [0-19];

• Health inequalities;

• Creating healthier environments;

• Adult healthy weight;

• Workplace and Better Health at Work.

Page 98


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Wednesday 21 February 2018 of Executive
	6 Corporate Business Plan 2018/19
	Appendix A for Corporate Business Plan 2018/19

	7 Setting Equality objectives 2018/19
	Appendix A for Setting equality objectives

	8 Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund
	9 Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration
	Appendix 1 for Healthy Weight Declaration


